

# University of Nairobi

# **School of Engineering**

# Developing a Complementary Mobile & Web-based Application for Recording and Sharing Electricity Customer Meter Reading and Power Incidence Data.

Case Study: Langata Constituency, Nairobi County, Kenya.

Paul Silali Wekesa F56/88500/2016

A Project submitted in partial fulfillment for the Degree of Master of Science in Geographic Information Systems, in the Department of Geospatial and Space Technology.

August, 2018.

#### Abstract

Energy is an essential factor of the economy, the national security of a nation as well as standard of living. Kenya's Vision 2030 identifies energy as one of the major enablers of infrastructure development under the socio-economic pillar. Kenya is undergoing a rapid development stage in relation to its domestic energy demands. The current government demanded that Kenya Power and Lighting Company (KPLC) accelerate electricity connectivity within the country; this called for a totally new approach in the connectivity, meter reading and billing model within the electricity distribution company.

Manual reading of power meters is indeed a time-consuming exercise, KPLC meter readers face a number of challenges while trying to gain access to customer postpaid meters in the field. These challenges range from unrestrained animals, inclement weather conditions, or meters located behind a locked fence and buildings. On the other hand, the company emergency teams also face a number of challenges while resolving power incidences reported by the customers. One of the main challenge includes locating the incident areas based on the vague description from the customers and hence lack of proper preparation (with the right equipment) to handle the reported incident.

The growth in the telecommunication sector has enabled a positive willingness by power consumers to volunteer information and embrace new innovative approaches being implemented by the company. This study seeks to take advantage of this with the main objective of developing a complementary mobile and web-based application for recording and sharing electricity customer meter reading and power incidence data. The objective was achieved and the study was able to develop an electrical network geodatabase using Open Source software, PostgreSQL /PostGIS as the application database, a mobile application developed in Android studio using Java Programming Language, and a web application developed in the Node.JS environment using JavaScript. The application was published and tested within the case study area of Langata constituency in Nairobi County.

The mobile application meter reading and power incidence reporting platform is aimed at improving customer billing process and timely resolution of incidences, ultimately customer satisfaction on service delivery. It is recommended that this application is replicated through all the other constituencies in Kenya to support meter reading and power outage management in the company. Other utility companies can use this application to efficiently improve service delivery to customers. These can range from water and sewerage companies, telecommunication companies to oil and gas distribution companies among others.

#### **UNIVERSITY OF NAIROBI**

#### **Declaration of Originality Form**

This form must be completed and signed for all works submitted to the University for Examination.

Name of Student:	Paul Silali Wekesa
Registration Number	<u>F56/88500/2016</u>
College:	College of Architecture and Engineering
Faculty/School/Institute:	School of Engineering
Department:	Department of Geospatial and Space Technology
Course Name:	Degree of Master of Science in Geographic Information Systems
Title of the work: D	eveloping a Complementary Mobile & Web based Application for Recording and Sharing Electricity Customer Meter Reading and Power Incidence Data. Case Study: Langata Constituency, Nairobi County.

#### DECLARATION

- 1. I understand what Plagiarism is and I am aware of the University's policy in this regard.
- 2. I declare that this project is my original work and has not been submitted elsewhere for examination, award of a degree or publication. Where other people's work, or my own work has been used, this has properly been acknowledged and referenced in accordance with the University of Nairobi's requirements.
- 3. I have not sought or used the services of any professional agencies to produce this work.
- 4. I have not allowed, and shall not allow anyone to copy my work with the intention of passing it off as his/her own work.
- 5. I understand that any false claim in respect of this work shall result in disciplinary action, in accordance with University Plagiarism Policy.

Signature:	
Date:	

# Declaration

I, **Paul Silali Wekesa**, hereby declare that this project is my original work. To the best of my knowledge, the work presented here has not been presented for a degree in any in any other Institution of Higher Learning.

<u>Paul Silali Wekesa</u>		
Name of Student	Signature	Date

This project has been submitted for examination with my approval as university supervisor.

Dr. D. N. Siriba

-----

----- Date

Name of Supervisor

Signature

# Dedication

I dedicate this project to my family; my wife, sons, my dad and mum for the moral and material support they gave me during; not only the period of doing this project but also during my entire academic journey. May the Almighty Father bless them abundantly.

### Acknowledgement

First and foremost, I am most grateful to the Lord Almighty for the gift of life, the opportunity, time and resources to pursue the Master of Science in Geographic Information Systems (Msc. GIS) program. I would also like to acknowledge the assistance received from different individuals, organizations and the Department of Geospatial & Space Technology of the University of Nairobi. In particular single out the following for their priceless support:

I express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. D. N. Siriba of the Department of Geospatial & Space Technology for his invaluable contribution, support, and guidance throughout the program and during this research project. This enabled me to put the project together as coherently as possible. He has been there to offer technical support and provide ideas that pace the project with great finesse and skill.

I would also like to thank the Chair, all members of academic staff and student colleagues from the department for their support and for making learning GIS a possibility. Ladies and gentlemen may God bless you in all your professional and scholarly endeavors.

I also wish to convey my appreciation to my brother Dennis M. Wekesa for the guidance and training he offered me in mobile and web application development, and the support throughout the period of this research project. The training and guidance he offered in server-side JavaScript coding and Android application development enabled the design and implementation of the project to be a success.

Special gratitude to my wife Jacinter A. Kore and our children, AlphaMyles Silali and JayPrince Silali for their understanding, support and encouragement throughout the period of my study.

Last but not least, I wish to convey my sincere appreciation to those whose names do not appear here but contributed in one way or the other. Friends, rest assured that your support and contribution is much appreciated.

# Table of Contents.

Abstract	ii
Declaration	iv
Dedication	V
Acknowledgement	vi
Table of Contents	vii
List of Figures	Х
List of Tables	xii
List of Appendices	xiii
List of Abbreviations	xiv
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background	1
1.2 Problem Statement	2
1.3 Research Objectives	4
1.4 Research Questions	4
1.5 Justification of the Study	4
1.6 Scope and Limitations of the Study	5
1.7 Organization of the Study	6
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	7
2.1 Introduction	7
2.2 Kenya's Energy Sector Institutional Set up	8
2.3 Kenya's Electricity Subsector	
2.4 Kenya Power and Lighting Company Ltd (KPLC)	
2.4.1 KPLC Mandate	
2.4.2 KPLC Corporate Objectives	
2.4.3 Customer Service Division	
2.4.4 Operation and Maintenance	
2.5 Telecommunication Subsector in Kenya	14
2.5.1 Mobile Phone Penetration in Kenya	
2.5.2 Android Technology	
2.5.3 Android Development	
2.6 GIS and Web Mapping	
2.6.1 Geographic Information Systems (GIS)	

2.6.2 Web Mapping	18
2.6.3 Components of Web Mapping	19
2.6.4 Available Web Mapping Technologies	21
2.7 Volunteered Geographic Information (VGI)	24
2.8 Geo-tagging	25
2.9 Similar Case studies City of Windhoek-Self-Reading (SMS)	26
2.10 Conclusion on the literature review	26
CHAPTER 3: MATERIALS AND METHODS	27
3.1 Introduction	27
3.2 The Study Area	27
3.3 Summary of Project Objectives, Methods and Results	29
3.4 Methodology for the Study.	30
3.5 Data Identification	31
3.6 Data Collection and Preparation	31
3.6.1 Data Tools Used (Hardware and Software)	31
3.6.2 Data Collection	31
3.6.3 Data Preparation	32
3.7 Developing an Electrical Network Geodatabase	33
3.7.1 Data Tools Used (Hardware and Software)	33
3.7.2 Database Design.	34
3.7.3 Creating a Spatial Geodatabase in PostgreSQL with PostGIS Extension	39
3.7.4 Importing Electrical Network Datasets into PostGIS	40
3.7.5 Installing GeoServer and Setting up a GeoServer - PostGIS Connection	41
3.7.6 Styling and Publishing Electrical Dataset Layers	43
3.8 Developing a Mobile Application	45
3.8.1 Data Tools Used (Hardware and Software)	45
3.8.2 Installation Android Studio and Creating a Project	46
3.8.3 Developing an Android Mobile Application	47
3.8.4 Testing and Debugging the Mobile Application	50
3.8.5 Compiling an Executable File and Testing on a Mobile Phone	50
3.9 Developing a Web Application Locally	50
3.9.1 Data Tools Used (Hardware and Software)	50
3.9.2 Installation Node.js Framework Environment and Libraries	50

3.9.3 Creation and Population of PostgreSQL Tables	50
3.9.4 Coding of the Web Application	51
3.9.5 Testing and Debugging the Web Application	53
3.10 Publishing, Sharing and Testing the Application	53
3.10.1 Data Tools Used (Hardware and Software)	53
3.10.2 AWS Account Registration and Creation Server Instance	54
3.10.3 Configuring the Server and Installing the Required Software	56
3.10.4 Uploading of Web Application Code to the Server	56
3.10.5 Running and Testing the Web Application Remotely	56
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS.	57
4.1 Introduction	57
4.2 Data Collection and Preparation Results	57
4.3 Developing an Electrical Network Geodatabase	58
4.3.1 Output on Design of customer Details Tables	58
4.3.2 Output on Spatial Geodatabase in PostGIS and GeoServer Output	59
4.4 Developing a Mobile Application.	61
4.5 Developing a Web Application Locally	66
4.6 Publishing, Sharing and Testing the Application	77
4.6.1 Publishing and Sharing the Application on AWS Server	77
4.6.2 Testing the Mobile Web Application Remotely	77
4.7 Discussion and Analysis of the Results	77
4.8 Challenges in Implementing the Application	78
CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	79
5.1 Conclusions	79
5.2 Recommendations	80
5.3 Suggestions for Future Research	80
REFERENCES	81
APPENDICES	85
Appendix A Developing an Electrical Network Geodatabase	85
Appendix B Developing a Mobile Application	86
Appendix C Developing a Web Application Locally	87
Appendix D Publishing, Sharing and Testing the Application	90

# List of Figures

<u>Figures</u>	<u>Page</u>
Figure 2.1: The Energy Sector Institutional Framework in Kenya (Source: IEA, 2015)	8
Figure 2.2: Electric Power Supply Value Chain (Source: Business Sweden, 2016)	10
Figure 2.3: An illustration of the electrical distribution network (Source: Author, 2018)	12
Figure 2.4: An illustration of Telecommunication System (Source: Author, 2018)	15
Figure 2.5: Android OS Architecture	16
Figure 2.6: System Three-tier architecture (Source: Author, 2018)	20
Figure 3.1: Study area Langata constituency in Nairobi County (Source: Author, 2018)	28
Figure 3.2: Overview of Methodology (Source: Author, 2018).	30
Figure 3.3: Clipping Medium Voltage electrical network data in ArcGIS software	32
Figure 3.4: External Model Diagram	34
Figure 3.5: Normalized Entity Relationship Diagram	35
Figure 3.6: Creating a Geodatabase in PostgreSQL with PostGIS Extension	39
Figure 3.7: Importing shapefiles into PostgreSQL database.	40
Figure 3.8: Screenshot of workspace created in GeoServer.	41
Figure 3.9: GeoServer - PostGIS Connection Setup	42
Figure 3.10: Electrical network layer imported into GeoServer	42
Figure 3.11: The styling of the datasets in uDig	43
Figure 3.12: Exporting dataset SLD files in uDig	44
Figure 3.13: Electrical network dataset styles imported into GeoServer	44
Figure 3.14: Applying the Styling of in GeoServer	45
Figure 3.15: Installation Android studio and configuring a new project	46
Figure 3.16: Setting the Target Android device	47
Figure 3.17: Developing the android application main forms	48
Figure 3.18: Developing the android application (Java programing language and XML)	49
Figure 3.19: Web Service schema	51
Figure 3.20: Web Portal programming on visual studio code editor	52
Figure 3.21: Applications interaction on the cloud (Source: Author, 2018)	53
Figure 3.22: Account Registration for Amazon Web Services	54
Figure 3.23: Setting up Amazon Elastic Compute Cloud instance	55
Figure 3.24: Putty configuration to connect to the database	56
Figure 4.1: Electrical network data prepared in ArcGIS	57

Figure 4.2: Designed customer details data imported in PostGIS	58
Figure 4.3: Spatial Geodatabase in PostGIS and GeoServer output	59
Figure 4.4: Final electrical network data layers workspace and projection in GeoSe	rver60
Figure 4.5: Published spatial electrical network data in GeoServer	60
Figure 4.6: A Screenshot illustrating the requested application permissions	61
Figure 4.7: A Screenshot illustrating application icon on the android phone desktop	61
Figure 4.8: The mobile application main page	62
Figure 4.9: The mobile application Meter Reading and Instructions page	63
Figure 4.10: The mobile application Incidence Reporting and Instruction page	64
Figure 4.11: The mobile application data upload acknowledgment page	65
Figure 4.12: Web portal home page	66
Figure 4.13: Web portal Dash board page	67
Figure 4.14: Web portal Readings Page - Main Window	68
Figure 4.15: Web portal Readings Page - Details Link	69
Figure 4.16: Web portal Map page (With Open Street Map and World Imagery base	e maps) 70
Figure 4.17: Web portal Power Incidences Page	71
Figure 4.18: Web portal Power Incidences Page Details Link 1	71
Figure 4.19: Web portal Power Incidences Page Details Link 2	72
Figure 4.20: Contacts Page	73
Figure 4.21: Web portal Name Search page	74
Figure 4.22: Web portal Customer – Profile page	74
Figure 4.23: Web portal Customer – Meter Details and Location page	75
Figure 4.24: Web portal Customer – Meter Reading and Location on Map	75
Figure 4.25: Web portal Meter box: Itinerary search page	76
Figure 4.26: Web portal Meter Code: search page.	76
Figure 4.27: Published Web portal on AWS server	77

# List of Tables

<u>Tables</u>	<u>Page</u>
Table 3.2: Langata Constituency County wards.	27
Table 3.1: Summary of project objectives, research questions, methods, and Results	29
Table 3.3: Project Data sources	
Table 3.4: Schema for Customer Details table	
Table 3.5: Schema for Meter Details table	
Table 3.6: Schema for Meter box Details table	
Table 3.7: Schema for Reading Details table	
Table 3.8: SQL statements for creating tables in PostgreSQL	

# List of Appendices

<u>Tables</u>	<u>Page</u>
Appendix A1 Sample Styling Sheet for Medium Voltage Lines (SLD File)	85
Appendix B1: Mobile Application Development on Android Studio	86
Appendix C1: Web Map Page HTML Code	87
Appendix D1: Server connection and Configuration	90

# List of Abbreviations

API	Application Programming Interface
APK	Android Application Package
APP	Application
ASP	Active Server Page
AVD	Android Virtual Device
AWS	Amazon Web Services
CAK	Communication Authority of Kenya
CRECO	Constitution & Reform Education Consortium
ERC	Energy Regulatory Commission
ESri	Environmental Systems Research Institute
FDI	Foreign Direct Investment
GDC	Geothermal Development Company
GeoJSON	Geographic JavaScript Object
GIS	Geographic Information Systems
GML	Geography Mark-up Language
GOK	Government of Kenya
GPS	Global Positioning System
GWh	Gigawatt Hour
HTML	HyperText Mark-up Language
HTTP	Hypertext Transfer Protocol
HTTPS	Secured HyperText Transfer Protocol
IDE	Integrated Development Environment
IIS	Internet Information Services
IPP	Independent Power Producers
JPG	Joint Photographic Experts Group
JSP	Java Server Pages
JVM	Java Virtual Machine
KENGEN	Kenya Electricity Generating Company
KETRACO	Kenya Electricity and Transmission Company
KIPPRA	Kenya Institute for Public Policy Research and Analysis
KML	Keyhole Markup Language
KNBS	Kenya National Bureau of Statistics
KPLC	Kenya Power and Lighting Company

LAN	Local Area Network
MoEP	Ministry of Energy and Petroleum
OGC	Open Geospatial Consortium
ORDBMS	Object-Relational Database Management System
OSM	OpenStreetMap
PHP	HyperText Preprocessor
REA	Rural Electrification Authority
REP	Rural Electrification Programme
SDK	Software Development Kit
SLD	Styled Layer Descriptor
SODNET	Social Development Network
SOK	Survey of Kenya
SQL	Structured Query Language
SRID	Spatial Reference System Identifier
UNHCR	United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees
URI	Uniform Resource Identifier
URL	Uniform Resource Locator
UTM	Universal Transverse Mercator
VGI	Volunteered Geographic Information
WAN	Wide Area Network
WFS	Web Feature Service
WMS	Web Mapping Service
XML	Extensible Mark-up Language

# **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

#### **1.1 Background**

Energy is an essential factor of the economy, the national security of a nation as well as standard of living. The amount of energy use in a country gives an indication of its economic growth and development. Energy is identified in Kenya's Vision 2030 as one of the major enablers of infrastructure development under the socio-economic pillar. Low cost, reliable, sustainable and competitive energy for every citizen is the main ingredient in the achievement of the Vision (MoEP, 2015).

Kenya drives its energy requirements from mainly three major sources: wood fuel, petroleum, and electricity. These sources make up 69%, 22%, and 9% respectively of the net energy consumption in Kenya (Deloitte, 2016). Kenya is undergoing a rapid development stage in relation to its domestic energy demands. A report by the Kenya Institute for Public Policy Research and Analysis (2017), indicated that Kenya needs to reduce the cost of energy and provide stable, quality power supply. This will, in turn, decrease the cost of doing business, therefore, attracting Foreign Direct Investments (FDIs) and also boost efficiency and productivity within the industrial sector.

Kenya's electricity is produced from hydro, thermal, geothermal, solar and wind (Institute of Economic Affairs, 2015). Kenya Economic Report by KIPPRA (2017), indicated that the country's electricity domestic demand increased from 7,826.4 GWh in 2015 to 8,053.2 GWh in 2016. Electricity tariffs in Kenya remain relatively high at a regional level, despite efforts by the Energy Regulatory Commission to decrease the tariffs, this could weaken the nation's industrial competitiveness (KIPPRA, 2017). Over the decade the country has had an uptake in electricity connections both in urban and rural areas. This has been driven by a myriad of various factors, chief amongst them being a new political dispensation in 2002 and the promulgation of the Constitution of Kenya in 2010.

The number of Mobile cellular subscriptions worldwide now exceeds the global population (International Telecommunication Union, 2017). The telecommunications sector in Kenya has witnessed the total number of mobile-cellular subscriptions increase significantly in the past few years. A report by the Communications Authority of Kenya (2017), indicated that the performance relating to mobile telephone sub-sector recorded a substantial growth in the

course of the second quarter of the financial year 2017/18. The report further points out that during this period there was a 4.4 percent growth in the total number of active mobile subscriptions, from 41.0 million recorded in the first quarter to 42.8 million subscriptions. Subsequently, the mobile penetration level increased to 94.3percent from 90.4 percent reported in the preceding quarter (Communications Authority of Kenya, 2017).

The advancement of technology has enabled interaction by non-professionals, known as volunteers to produce, share and consume Geographic Information. The phenomenon of Volunteer Geographic Information (VGI) is as a result of the extensive involvement of a large number of private citizens, many times with little or no formal qualifications, in the creation of Geographic Information. VGI can also be defined as a type crowdsourcing data generated by volunteers that provides important mass data for decision-making. VGI continues to be one of the most essential user-generated geographic contents that can provide a better understanding of planning issues and other challenges (Zhou, 2014).

The current government demanded that Kenya Power and Lighting Company (KPLC) accelerate electricity connectivity within the country; this called for a totally new approach in the connectivity, meter reading and billing model within the electricity distribution company. This study seeks to take advantage of technological growth in the telecommunication sector, mobile telephony; the positive willingness by power consumers to volunteer information and embrace this new innovative approaches being implemented by the company. To develop a mobile and web application that complements the company's the meter reading process and also provide a spatial platform for reporting power incidences.

#### **1.2 Problem Statement**

Economic activities in Kenya are adversely affected by the high cost of energy. Growth and competition amongst the various industries in the country are hindered by the relatively high cost of production, including high electricity tariffs compared to regional markets and power outages (KIPPRA, 2017). There has been an increase in the number of customers connected to the power grid due to the various initiatives launched by the Government. These initiatives are aimed at ensuring low-cost electricity connections to households and achieving over 70% connectivity by 2017 and universal access by 2020 (Republic of Kenya, 2007).

Manual reading of power meters is indeed a time-consuming exercise, especially across large estates, large portfolios, and apartment buildings. The company's customer service personnel (meter readers) face a number of accessibility challenges while undertaking the exercise of reading postpaid meters. Some of the main challenges include a lot of time spent on locating certain customer premises and meters, some premises and meters are locked and hence inaccessible to the meter readers, in other areas premises are located far apart hence the readers are required to cover long distances in harsh weather conditions. With these challenges the scope of work allocated to the meter readers to cover before the next reading cycle may not be covered and hence a negative impact on the accurate reading of all the postpaid meters every month.

Operation and Maintenance personnel (emergency teams) also face a number of challenges while resolving power incidences reported by the customers. The main challenges include; locating incident areas based on a vague description from the customers, lack of proper preparation (tools and equipment) by the emergency team to handle the reported incidence based on wrong or unclear description of the incident reported by the customer. With the wrong information received from the customers, the emergency teams cannot quickly and efficiently respond to their complaints when the services are disrupted.

The steady rise in the number of power customers in the country, in comparison to the limited number of KPLC personnel, tasked with providing meter reading and emergency response services, compounds the above mentioned challenges. Hence the need for the company to employ deferent technologies and processes to enhance service delivery to its customers. This study seeks to bridge this gap by developing a complimentary mobile and web-based application for recording and sharing electricity customer meter reading and power incidence data.

# **1.3 Research Objectives**

# **Main Objective**

The main objective of this study is to develop a complementary mobile and web-based application for recording and sharing electricity customer meter reading and power incidence data.

## **Specific Objectives**

- 1. To develop an electrical network geodatabase for recording and sharing electricity customer meter reading and power incidence data.
- 2. To develop a mobile application through which users can report electricity customer meter reading and power incidence data.
- 3. To develop a web application through which users can directly record, upload and share electricity customer meter reading and power incidence data.
- 4. To publish, share and test the application with case study area of Langata Constituency, Nairobi County.

# **1.4 Research Questions**

This study intends to address the following research questions:

- 1. How can an electrical network geodatabase be developed for recording and sharing electricity customer meter reading and power incidence data?
- 2. How can a mobile application be developed through which users can report electricity customer meter reading and power incidence data?
- 3. How can a web application be developed through which users can directly record, upload and share electricity customer meter reading and power incidence data?
- 4. How can this application be published online, shared and tested with a case study area?

# **1.5 Justification of the Study**

The customers benefit if correct electricity consumption bills are dispatched. This can be improved with customers assisting in meter reading, using a mobile phone application to record and share their meter reading on stipulated dates by KPLC. This process will complement the current meter reading process and ensure that a good number of postpaid meters are accessed for billing purpose. The Web application is a platform to receive and display meter readings sent by the customers through their phones. From the Web application, the meter reading personnel can, verify both spatially and using tagged photos, the accuracy of the reading, and decide on whether to use the reading for billing or visit and capture the readings.

Customers also seek to benefit from prompt responses to the reported power incidences. The Emergency the personnel can obtain, from the web application information needed to restore service quickly and hence reduce the duration of outages. This has been and continues to be a primary goal for every utility company seeking operational excellence. The web application can help in this effort by displaying the actual location of the incidence on the map to enable the teams to plan, prioritize and navigate to the site.

The application also provides a photo of the incidence taken by the customer, this gives the emergency teams a graphical view of the incidence and hence enable them to study and deduce the probable cause of the outage and therefore carry the right equipment and gear. From the location of the site on the map and the uploaded photo, the emergency teams can carry out proper planning and make informed decisions on how to handle the incident. The objective is to make the planning and response process of incidence more accurate and faster. This process can be designed to complement the call center effort currently being used by KPLC, which if put to use will enhance efficiency and effectiveness in incidence responses.

#### **1.6 Scope and Limitations of the Study**

#### **Scope**

This project was limited to developing a mobile and web application that enables users to record and share electricity customer meter reading and power incidence data. The target users are all postpaid customers, meter readers and emergency teams from KPLC. The target population of this study is limited to the Nairobi urban population which was easy to reach and who provided evaluation and feedback of the system. The application was developed on Google's Android platform.

#### **Limitations**

The mobile app will be available only for Android devices and the targeted users are limited to the Nairobi urban population. VGI can sometimes have a lack of data quality assurance and also introduce issues surrounding liability and security. With regards to the privacy of personal information, the customer data used in the application database contain dummy names and numbers. The developed application was limited to the Android platform only and the target users are assumed to have android devices. High voltages power line data was not used as part of the spatial data in the application database.

### **1.7 Organization of the Study**

The project report is structured and organized in chapters and essentially consists of five chapters each having several sub-topics discussed under it as outlined in the table of content; Chapter one entails the background to the project, the gap under the problem statement that the study seeks to address, justification of undertaking the study, the main and specific objectives guiding the study , and finally the scope, and limitations. Chapter two reviews the literature that is significant to the study. Chapter three generally presents the methods and materials used during the project. Chapter four discusses the results obtained after implementing the methodology, analysis, and discussions of the results obtained. Finally, chapter five consists of conclusions and thereafter recommendations.

# **CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW**

#### **2.1 Introduction**

This chapter presents an overview of the literature on Kenya's energy sector, the institutional setup and the electricity subsector power supply value chain. This section also describes the mandate of the electricity distribution company KPLC, a summary of the incidence reporting and meter reading functions in the company. The chapter also gives an overview of the telecommunication industry and mobile phone penetration in Kenya, Android technology, and development. It also reviews the concepts of GIS and web mapping in the context of the development of a complementary Mobile & Web-based Application. Finally, the chapter reviews related case studies.

#### Kenya Vision 2030 on energy

Kenya Vision 2030 is a long-term development blueprint aimed at creating "a globally competitive and prosperous country with a high quality of life by 2030". The vision strives to transform Kenya into "a newly-industrializing, middle-income country providing a high quality of life to all its citizens in a clean and secure environment" (Republic of Kenya, 2007). Kenya Vision 2030 identifies energy as central to the economic, social and political development of the country. In the face of growing energy demand, the Vision notes that currently, the energy rates in Kenya are above those of her competitors. It consequently gives priority to the expansion of the generation of energy as well as improve efficiency in energy consumption (Institute of Economic Affairs, 2015).

The economic pillar of the Vision 2030 Economic Plan foresees major infrastructural development to expedite economic growth in the country. This will be achieved by ensuring that the energy sector institutional reforms process is continuous, with a framework that defines the regulations in the sector, motivating and creating a conducive environment for private generators of power to operate in, separation of companies involved in the generation and distribution of power, ensuring the new sources of energy are secured and exploited and finally connecting Kenya to countries within the region that export surplus energy (Republic of Kenya, 2007).

Kenyan Government in conjunction with the Energy Regulatory Commission (ERC) has been able to develop an energy policy framework detailing provision of energy services that are cost-effective, affordable and of adequate quality on a sustainable basis over the period 2004-2023.

## 2.2 Kenya's Energy Sector Institutional Set up

The Ministry of Energy and Petroleum (MoEP) is tasked with facilitating provision of energy in Kenya while the industry regulator is the Energy Regulatory Commission (ERC). The Energy Act which created the ERC as the sole sector regulator integrated all laws pertaining to the energy sector and in turn ensured legal frameworks, policies and institutions have been developed now and again. This provides a platform for reforms within the energy sector. Figure 2.1 illustrates the major institutions in Kenya's Energy sector.



Figure 2.1: The Energy Sector Institutional Framework in Kenya (Source: IEA, 2015)

The countries energy sector is made up of policy making and implementation institutions. The policy making institutions include; the Ministry of Energy and Petroleum (MoEP) that receives advice from the ERC and the Energy Tribunal to provide an enabling environment to all stakeholders by formulating and articulating policies. The ministry has been tasked with providing training of manpower, planning for the national energy and petroleum, and souring the financial resources required (Ministry of Energy and Petroleum, 2015). The Energy Tribunal came into operation in July 2007, founded by the Energy Act, 2006 under section 108. The tribunal has authority to hear and determine appeals against decisions made by ERC and all cases relating to the energy sector that have been referred to the tribunal.

Finally the Energy Act, 2006 formed the Energy Regulatory Commission (ERC), to provide technical and economic regulation in the energy sub-sector. Other functions include setting, reviewing, licensing and enforcing energy purchase tariffs, ensuring that disputes emanating from power purchase and network service contracts are settled and approved.

The implementing institutions under the electricity Sub-sector include power generation companies such as Kenya Electricity Generating Company Limited (KenGen), The Geothermal Development Corporation (GDC) and Independent Power Producers (IPPs). KenGen is the major power producer of the bulk of electricity consumed in the country. It produces about 82.1% of the electricity consumed in Kenya (Owiro et al., 2015). Currently, the company is utilizing the different sources to generate electricity including; hydro, geothermal, and thermal and wind. The Geothermal Development Corporation (GDC) is a government owned organization, established by the Energy Act of 2006 with the following specific roles: to fast-track development of geothermal resources in Kenya, to provide constant supply of steam to power plant developers for electricity generation, and to promote alternative uses of geothermal resources other than electricity generation e.g. drying of grains (Owiro et al., 2015). Finally, Independent Power Producers (IPPs) that are private companies which generate power and sell electricity in bulk to KPLC.

Other implementing institutions under the electricity Sub-sector are transmission and distribution companies. These include Kenya Power and Lighting Company Limited (KPLC), Kenya Electricity Transmission Company Limited (KETRACO), and Rural Electrification Authority (REA).

KETRACO is a state owned Corporation that was formed to develop infrastructure for high voltage electricity transmission. KETRACO is tasked with inspection, planning, designing, constructing and maintenance of transmission lines in the country. These transmission lines form the backbone of the countries National Transmission Grid. The transmission networks linked to other countries enable regional trade power trade that is facilitated by KETRACO.

REA was founded by the Energy Act of 2006 under section 66 tasked to manage rural electrification fund disbursed by the government, to acquire all the resources required for rural electrification, to extend the existing electricity supply to rural areas in the country, and encourage the development and utilization of renewable energy (Owiro et al., 2015).

# 2.3 Kenya's Electricity Subsector

Kenya's electricity system is still largely public sector owned and driven, despite the past years of private sector participation. Sectoral reforms have included unbundling of generation from transmission and distribution/retail businesses and liberalization of generation to allow entry of IPPs. Figure 2.2 illustrates the various companies in the electricity subsector in Kenya, grouped under distribution, transmission, and generation categories.



#### Electric Power Distribution, Transmission, and Generation Companies.

Figure 2.2: Electric Power Supply Value Chain (Source: Business Sweden, 2016)

# 2.4 Kenya Power and Lighting Company Ltd (KPLC)

### 2.4.1 KPLC Mandate

The Company's core mandate is selling of electricity to its customers, building and maintaining the power distribution and transmission network, carrying out energy balance by planning for ample electricity generation as well as transmission capacity to meet demand.

KPLC strives to efficiently transmit and distribute high-quality electricity that is safe, adequate and reliable at cost-effective tariffs. This ensures the company delivers high-quality customer service to the power consumers. KPLC is a key player in the electric power supply subsector with the mandate to purchase bulk electricity supply, transmit, distribute and retail electricity to end-use customers in Kenya. Therefore this reason responsible for customer connection, metering, and management of all the transmission and distribution lines. They collect revenue and endeavour to ensure reliable and quality electric power reaches the customer.

#### 2.4.2 KPLC Corporate Objectives

KPLC, (2012) in the companies 5 Year corporate strategic plan outlines the following as the some of the main corporate objectives:

- To accelerate customer connectivity to fulfil the Vision 2030 Medium Term Plan II Flagship project of one million new customers connected in a five year period.
- To carry out distribution system expansion that facilitates achievement of the Government's 5,000+MW generation expansion plan by 2017.
- To improve the delivery of customer services and the transmission and distribution efficiency of electricity in the country.
- To improve electricity supply quality to exceed customer expectations, reduce the cost of doing business and increase sales revenue.
- To expand and maintain robust electricity system infrastructure at the least cost possible and *modernise operations* through automation in order to enhance efficiency
- To carry out innovation in all business spheres to enhance efficiency and service quality

#### Electrical distribution network



Figure 2.3: An illustration of the electrical distribution network (*Source: Author, 2018*) The Figure 2.3 above illustrates a typical electrical network distribution from generation to transmission network and finally to distribution substation that connects various consumers. The consumers range from large and medium commercial consumers, industrial consumers, and domestic and small commercial users.

#### 2.4.3 Customer Service Division

The Customer Service division tasked to handle customer related aspects of the business. These tasks include sales from new and existing customers, analysis of electricity unit sales growth in the plan period, innovations and service reforms to boost sales growth and customer satisfaction. Meter reading function falls under customer service division, tasked with carrying out field reading of postpaid customer meters.

#### Meter reading procedure

Meter reader uses a mobile handset to carry out the meter reading process. Each meter reader is allocated an itinerary; an itinerary is composed of a number of meters within the same location, which can be optimally read by one meter reader within a day. The number of meters per Itinerary varies from one area to another within the country, depending on the density of population. Extra high-density areas are town flats next to each other while low density is mainly rural areas.

The meter reader turns on the handset and confirms the date, itinerary loaded and the number of meters and proceeds to the field where the first property of the meter is situated. The reader is expected to gain access to the premises of customers for purposes of carrying out meter reading. The reader verifies the meter in the property corresponds to the one in the mobile handset. If the meter corresponds, he/she keys in the reading in the handset by punching the correct keys/numbers to reflect the same, and confirming the reading keyed in is correct. He/she records any property anomaly noted in his/her notebook.

The reader then proceeds to the next property as listed in the mobile handset and repeats the same procedure above, doing so until the whole itinerary is complete. He/she records all unread meters and the reasons for being unread. This information will be relayed back to the office. The meter reading services entail monthly reading of all meters allocated to the reader and uploading them to Kenya Power's billing system via the local reading application. The reading is done based on Kenya Power's meter reading calendar. The company encourages meter readers to maintain 100% meter reading coverage and accuracy in their respective Itineraries. The Government directed KPLC to cease electricity bill estimation for postpaid customers, hence the company is obligated to invest more resources in its meter reading operations

#### **2.4.4 Operation and Maintenance**

Kenya power manages its outage incidences using a non-spatial application called Incidence Management System (IMS). The IMS is operated at the company's call center which was recently set up as a specialized central point for incidence management. It is also at the regional Emergency offices which follow up on these incidences until when they are resolved. The call center forwards the recorded incidences to regional offices for actions. The IMS data is received via customer calls for incidences related to power outages. This data in IMS does not have the spatial components for the customer location or for the distribution networks. It only has the alphanumeric information linking the customer to the transformer serving him and subsequently to its feeder and substation. The customer details are retrieved by keying his or her account number in the Customer Information System.

#### Incidence reporting procedure

Information pertaining to the nature of outage is first received from the customer and recorded. The operator then assigns the field crew the incidences to resolve. The customer location is traced by phone calls which make the field personnel's work tedious and time-consuming. The actual cause of the outage will be known when the person arrives at the site. They will track the network from consumer end to fault point. They may, therefore, not have the right equipment and materials to restore power.

When an incident is resolved, the field personnel calls the emergency office to enable them to record the cause of the outage, the solution given and time of completion. They are then directed to the next incidence. Some incidences might be repetitive and are solved at one point such as at the transformer or at a broken jumper and therefore the many incidences booked under the same parent needed no more attention.

#### 2.5 Telecommunication Subsector in Kenya

One of the main objectives of the study is to develop a mobile application through which users can report electricity customer meter reading and power incidence data. This section gives an overview of the telecommunication sector, mobile phone penetration and subscription rate in the country in Kenya. The section also reviews background information on Android technology and development. This is vital to justify the use of mobile phone and Android operating system in the study.

Revenue streams from mobile networks, employment opportunities offered by companies, innovations, and services contribute immensely to the economy of developing countries. Internet and data services are gaining popularity in many mobile network services but traditional services like SMS and voice still remain the most popular among users.

Mobile telephone capacity expanded by 14.0 percent from 62.8 million in 2015 to 71.6 million in 2016 mainly on account of strong demand for mobile services. Mobile subscriptions increased from 37.7 million in 2015 to 39.0 million in 2016. The number of mobile money subscribers increased by 19.6 percent to 32.0 million in 2016, according to the Economic Surveys 2015-2017 (KNBS, 2017). Figure 2.4 illustrates how the various devices communicate in a telecommunication system network.







## 2.5.1 Mobile Phone Penetration in Kenya

Mobile phone penetration rate refers to the number of active mobile phone numbers within a specific population represented as a percentage. This value can go beyond 100% due to the fact that one person can have more than one SIM-card.

Kenya is one of the few countries in Africa after Nigeria and South Africa with the highest mobile penetration. Communication Authority of Kenya (2012) quarterly sector statistics report indicated that the mobile penetration in Kenya stands at 75.4% signifying a 17.5 % growth from 25.2 million recorded in the 2010/2011 period. This was largely due to an increase in the number of mobile users to 29.7 million by October 2012

Smartphones have a 15% penetration in the country (CAK, 2012). The smartphones run on different operating systems like *Symbian, Windows Mobile, iOS,* and *Android* a popular operating system run by most phones. Among these, iOS and Android are considered the smartest in terms of location because they have GPS and Wi-Fi with the latter being cheaper and receiving the biggest uptake in Kenya.

#### 2.5.2 Android Technology

### Android Operating System

Android, Inc. was founded in Palo Alto, California, United States in October 2003 by Andy Rubin and later acquired by Google on August 17, 2005. Android is a mobile operating system based on the Linux kernel and mainly designed for mobile devices such as smartphones and tablet computers Android Source code is released by Google under the *open source licenses* though most Android devices ship with a combination of open source software and proprietary software developed and licensed by Google. The open source nature of Android has enabled many to create and distribute their own modified version of the OS through the Android Open Source Project (ASOP).

### 2.5.3 Android Development

Figure 2.5: shows the diagram of Android OS Architecture. Android software stack is divided into five layers: Applications, Application Framework, Libraries, Android Runtime, and the Linux Kernel.



#### Android operating system (OS) architecture

Figure 2.5: Android OS Architecture

#### Linux Kernel

The kernel is found in the lower layer of the Android operating system and is the core of the operating system. The Linux kernel has all the essential hardware drivers and also acts as an abstraction layer between the device hardware and the upper layers of the Android software stack. The Linux Kernel is what interacts with the hardware and contains all device drivers used by higher levels of the software stack to control and communicate with the hardware. Such drivers are the Display Driver, Camera Driver, Flash Memory Driver, Audio Driver etc.

#### Libraries

This is the layer that enables the device to handle different types of data. These libraries are written in C or C++ language and are specific to a particular hardware. Some of the core libraries are: *SQLite* used to access data published by content providers and includes SQLite database management classes, *Secure Sockets Layer (SSL)* used to provide internet security and *Skia Graphics Library (SGL)* which is the underlying 2D graphics engine.

#### **Android Runtime**

The Android Runtime consists of the *Dalvik Virtual Machine (DVM)* or *Android RunTime (ART)* and *core Java libraries*. Dalvik Virtual Machine a type of Java Virtual Machine (JVM) used in Android devices to run applications and is optimized for low processing power and low memory environments.

#### **Application Framework**

The frameworks are blocks in which the applications directly interact with. They are the basic tools used to build applications and provide the basic functions of phones like resource management, voice call management etc. The Android framework includes the following key services: *Content Providers:* Manages data sharing between applications (Allows applications to publish and share data with other applications). *Activity Manager:* Manages all aspects of the application lifecycle and activity stack. *Telephone Manager:* Manages all voice calls providing the telephony services available on the device such as status and subscriber information. *Location Manager:* Uses GPS or cell towers for location management allowing an application to receive updates about location changes.

#### Applications

In Android architecture, the applications are found at the top layer of the architecture. The user of the Android device would mostly interact with this layer and several standard applications come pre-installed with every device, such as SMS client application, Dialer, Web browser and Contact manager. A developer is able to write applications that replace default system applications and applications that solve a specific problem.

#### 2.6 GIS and Web Mapping

#### 2.6.1 Geographic Information Systems (GIS)

GIS refers to a system of hardware, software and procedures that capture, store, edit, manipulate, manage, analyze, share and visualize georeferenced data (Fu and Sun, 2011). GIS is used to produce a wide range of maps but its capabilities go beyond mapping. It offers a rich set of analytical functions that can reveal hidden relationships, patterns, and trends that are not readily apparent, enabling people to think spatially to solve problems and make smart decisions (Fu and Sun, 2011). By understanding spatially distributed phenomena in many areas GIS can be utilized to assist in decision making and evaluating problems (Sakamoto and Fukui 2004).

#### 2.6.2 Web Mapping

Web mapping is the process by which maps are designed, implemented, generated and delivered on the web (Neumann 2008). Web maps can be viewed from a standard web browser, mobile devices, and desktop map viewers. Web Maps are authored through a variety of means but the traditional method would be through the desktop. A typical workflow would be the standard *author, share* and *use* process. The *author*ing process is carried out by standard desktop GIS software such as ArcGIS for Desktop or free and open source open source such as Quantum GIS. The *sharing* process is done on either enterprise systems or cloud-based platforms that avail the resource into the online platform.

Web mapping is a form of distributed computing based on the client-server architecture. It affords the benefits attributed to a distributed computing system. In principle, in web mapping, any user with internet connectivity can benefit from web mapping services. Notably, it is not required that a user be a GIS expert in order to benefit from web mapping services.

Websites are becoming increasingly popular especially with the distant passage of information: one very effective way of sharing map information to a group of non-technical end users is through a webpage. Mitchell (2005) defines two broad kinds of web map applications as *static* and *dynamic*. Static maps are displayed as an image on a web page while for dynamic maps, a user can interact with the map with functionalities such as querying and zooming of layers on the map. Such maps are much more complex and require programming skills to create and display them.

#### Advantages of web mapping

The World Wide Web being used as a dissemination medium for maps has empowered GIS and provided new opportunities mapping such as; low cost incurred while sharing the maps, increased frequency updating data and related software at low cost, customizable map contents to suit user needs, variety of distributed data sources and generally the ease of sharing of Geographic Information. Web mapping is the easiest way to improve internal and external communication with users who understand maps (Stachowicz, 2004).

#### **Challenges of web mapping**

Technical restrictions such as low display resolution and limited bandwidth pose a major challenge to web mapping. Many mobile computing devices are physically small with slow wireless Internet connections. There also exist the challenges of data privacy, copyright and security issues. Data accuracy, reliability, currency and complexity also pose major challenges in web mapping. Today web maps are interactive and integrate multiple media. This means that both web mapping and web cartography also have to deal with interactivity, usability and multimedia issues (Kraak J. &Allan B. 2001).

#### 2.6.3 Components of Web Mapping

#### The Three-Tier Architecture

Most Web applications employ the use of a Three-Tier Architecture module as a framework on the Internet. This Architecture helps to separate the Business Logic from the Application, Data Storage, and database. Figure: 2.6 below shows the client-server three-tier architecture for creating web applications. It is composed of client (*presentation*), server (*application*) and data (*database*) tiers.

Developers can develop, maintain, upgrade or replace any of the three tiers and hence a preferred over other architectures. The client sends a request to the server which in turn processes and executes the query and directs it to the database. The database returns the result which is fetched by and processed by the server and delivered to the client.



Figure 2.6: System Three-tier architecture (Source: Author, 2018)

#### (A) Presentation Tier

The presentation tier is responsible for displaying maps computed by the Application tier. This layer also displays the graphical controls that receive the interaction from the user and converts these interactions to requests for the Application Logic layer. In a web mapping architecture the web browser found in the presentation tier is used to retrieve the right web page and then making sense of its content (Dzbor et al., 2003).

#### (B) Logic/Application Tier

Logic tier consists of a web server application code and a map server. The web server receives the user requests and transfers the output map result to the clients. The application code receives the information requested by the user and compiles the request. It detects the user required information and sends the information to the map server. The map server detects which map is requested and sends information to the database. After receiving map data from the database server the map is processed. Editing, map processing and generating an output map are done in this tier.

Output maps are sent to the client web browser through the Internet. Web servers connect different software components with a scripting language. The two main types of web server are Internet Information Service (IIS) and Apache. Internet Information Service is a high-performance Web Server from Microsoft which is proprietary software. Apache is an open source software and can be installed on almost all operating systems including Linux, UNIX, Windows, FreeBSD, Mac OS X and more.

#### (C) Database Tier

The Database tier manages and organizes the map data. The relational database table is created using the relational database model and used for efficient retrieval of data. It sends and receives instruction and information through maps server and application code compiling center. Map file stores the whole map in a file which is accessed by the map server. This project uses the PostgreSQL database with PostGIS Extension.

#### 2.6.4 Available Web Mapping Technologies

#### (1) Scripting language and JavaScript

Scripting languages often follow the syntax and semantics of command languages that allow controlling one or more software application. Client-side scripting is executed on the client side by web browsers whereas in the server side scripting runs on the server side or application servers. The popular server-side scripts are PHP, ASP, and JSP. JavaScript and VBScript are client-side object-oriented scripting language and is popular for developing a client-side application. Developed by Netscape, JavaScript is an object-based client-side, e scripting language which can be embedded directly into HTML pages. It allows users to create dynamic, interactive Web-based applications that run completely within a Web browser.

#### (2) Application Programming Interface

In computer programming, an application programming interface (API) is a set of routines, protocols, and tools used by an application to communicate with other control programs, communication protocol or operating system. In addition to accessing databases or computer hardware, such as hard disk drives or video cards, an API can ease the work of programming GUI components. Almost every application depends on the APIs of the underlying operating system to perform such basic functions as accessing the file system (Orenstein, 2000).

Each API is designed in a specific programming language and has several specifications that define it facilitates communication between two applications to exchange messages or data. A set of functions and procedures that offers a library so other software can use it as an abstraction layer, both using each other's information without compromising their independence. The Android mobile application will use an API to communicate with the portal and upload information sent by the customer
#### (3) Cloud computing

Cloud computing is the delivery of computing services over the internet, providing a shared a shared pool of resources, including data storage space, networks, computer processing power, and specialized corporate and user applications. Cloud computing architecture allows users to access information and computer resources from anywhere that a network connection is available. The hardware and software resources are provided to users on-demand managed by third parties at remote locations.

Some of the major characteristics of cloud computing include: *On-demand self-service*, where the can request and manage their own computing resources, *broad network access* that allows services to be offered over the Internet or private networks, *resource pooling* where customers draw from a pool of computing resources, usually in remote data centres, *rapid elasticity* where services can be scaled larger or smaller and finally the service is measured and customers are billed accordingly.

#### (a) <u>Cloud computing Service Models.</u>

Cloud Providers offer services that can be grouped into three categories.

- *Software as a Service (SaaS)* in this model, a complete application is offered to the customer, as a service on demand. A single instance of the service runs on the cloud & multiple end users are serviced. The service provider hosts only a single application on the server and the customer does not need upfront investment in servers or software licenses hence the costs are lowered.
- *Platform as a Service (PaaS)* an operating system, hardware, and network are provided, and the customer installs or develops its own software and applications. The operating systems and network access are not managed by the customer, and there might be constraints as to which applications can be deployed. The customer has the freedom to build his own applications, which run on the provider's infrastructure. Examples include Amazon Web Services (AWS), Rackspace and Microsoft Azure.
- *Infrastructure as a Service (IaaS)* provides just the hardware and network; the customer installs or develops its own operating systems, software and applications. The customer controls and manages the systems in terms of the operating systems, applications, storage, and network connectivity, but do not themselves control the cloud infrastructure.

#### (b) **Deployment of cloud services**

Deploying cloud computing can differ depending on requirements. The following are the main deployment models each with specific characteristics that support the needs of the services and users of the clouds in particular ways.

- *Private Cloud:* The cloud infrastructure is operated solely for a specific organization and is managed by the organization or a third party. The cloud infrastructure has been deployed and is maintained and operated for a specific organization. The operation may be in-house or with a third party on the premises.
- *Community Cloud:* The service is shared among a number of organizations with similar interests and requirements and made available only to those groups. The infrastructure may be owned and operated by the organizations or by a cloud service provider.
- *Public Cloud:* The cloud infrastructure is available to the public on a commercial basis by a cloud service provider. This enables a consumer to develop and deploy a service in the cloud with very little financial outlay compared to the capital expenditure requirements normally associated with other deployment options.

#### (c) <u>Cloud Computing Benefits</u>

The following are some of the possible benefits for those who offer cloud computing-based services and applications:

- *Reduced Cost:* Companies can reduce their capital expenditures and use operational expenditures for increasing their computing capabilities. The billing model is paid as per usage; the infrastructure is not purchased thus lowering maintenance. Initial expense and recurring expenses are much lower than traditional computing.
- *Increased Storage*. With the massive Infrastructure that is offered by Cloud providers today, storage & maintenance of large volumes of data is a reality. Sudden workload spikes are also managed effectively & efficiently since the cloud can scale dynamically.
- *Scalability/Flexibility*. Companies can start with a small deployment and grow to a large deployment fairly rapidly, and then scale back if necessary. Also, the flexibility of cloud computing allows companies to use extra resources at peak times, enabling them to satisfy consumer
- *Maintenance*. Cloud service providers do the system maintenance, and access is through APIs that do not require application installations onto PCs, thus further reducing maintenance requirements.

- *Mobile Accessible*. Mobile workers have increased productivity due to systems accessible in an infrastructure available from anywhere.
- *Reliability* Services using multiple redundant sites can support business continuity and disaster recovery.

# 2.7 Volunteered Geographic Information (VGI)

VGI based on a usually one-way flow of information is intended to create, collect, validate, analyse, and disseminate geographic data contributed voluntarily by individuals (Elwood, 2008d; Goodchild, 2007b, 2008; Miscione et al., 2011; Tulloch, 2008). VGI employed as a collective effort is usually associated with crowdsourcing or externally decided joint activities (Xu and Nyerges, 2016).

VGI can be defined as "crowdsourced" geographic information provided by a wide range of participants with varying levels of education, knowledge and skills, a valued and useful source of information for governments and organizations in the modern society. In this approach, data sources are provided by communities of volunteers as opposed to government entities, organizations i.e. research institutions. This has been fuelled by the emergence of Web 2.0 technologies, miniaturization of the Global Positioning System (GPS) devices and advancement of broadband communication links (Goodchild. 2007). Mobile computing Services are multiplying rapidly in terms of range, processing speeds, and storage capacities. The growing interest in compiling and editing georeferenced data has manifested itself in the growth of volunteered geographic information systems such as OpenStreetMap and Ushahidi, platform VGI or locational crowdsourcing.

#### VGI Accuracy and Reliability

Concerning quality, VGI can be said to be the most current data source. However. VGI compared to traditional authoritative data sources can be said to have poor positional accuracy and overall veracity, however, this assertion might not be entirely accurate and can be debated using Linus's law. This law states that the more people involved and watching over a project, the more likely errors can be spotted and fixed early (Howard and Leblanc. 2003). Another argument in support of VGI is the argument that near things are more related than distant things and therefore citizen contributions will be more accurate for places which these people understand. Citizen contributions will be more accurate for places which these people understand.

#### **Example of VGI initiative**

Ushahidi is an open source web application for information collection, visualization, and interactive mapping. It helps one to collect info from: SMS, Twitter, RSS feeds and Email. It helps one to process that information, categorize it, geo-locate it and publish it on a map. Ushahidi, which translates to "testimony "in Swahili was developed to map reports of the aftermath of 2007-08 post-election violence in Kenya. It is-a non-profit software company that develops free and open-source software for information collection, visualization, and interactive mapping. Since then, thousands have used Ushahidi's crowdsourcing tools to raise their voice.

#### 2.8 Geo-tagging

Geotagging refers to the process of appending geospatial identification metadata to various types of media such as narrative documents, web content, and images (Hunter, 2012). With various social web tools and applications, users can add geospatial information to web content, photographs, audio, and video. Using hardware integrated with Global Positioning System (GPS) receivers, this can be done automatically (Hu & Ge, 2008).

#### Geo-tagging photos

This allows users to associate a photo with a particular location. This is achieved by adding metadata containing coordinates or other location data like address systems to a picture or any other media type. Essentially any type of media can have a location associated with it but the only thing that will vary is the way a location is expressed and stored.

Geo-tagging can be an automatic process of a camera which is GPS enabled, however, it can also be accomplished manually or by pairing the time a picture was taken with the time a coordinate was taken. For automatic geo-tagging, it is usually the position of the photographer or rather the camera itself which gets recorded. In the resulting pictures, this information is stored in the digital file; predominantly in jpg format. (UNHCR, 2012)

Geo-tagging can help users find a wide variety of location-specific information. Geo-tagging enabled information services can also potentially be used to find location-based news, websites, or other resources. Platforms like Google Maps or Flickr where users upload their geo-tagged pictures can be used to look at sites, find unmapped infrastructure or share geo-tagged pictures with the wider public or a selected user group only. Geo-tagging indicates the location of the content of a given picture or other media, and on some media platforms show media relevant to a given location. (UNHCR, 2012)

#### 2.9 Similar Case studies City of Windhoek-Self-Reading (SMS)

The city of Windhoek is the capital and largest city of the Republic of Namibia. It is located in central Namibia and offers a self-reading using short message service (SMS) that allows the customer to submit their monthly water/electricity meter reading via SMS. This service is offered by the Department of Finance. The City in an effort to improve service delivery and satisfy customer needs introduced a self-reading SMS facility whereby residents of the capital can self-register to submit their water and electricity meter readings via SMS from the comfort of their own homes.

The owner of the premises is required to go to the City of Windhoek townhouse to complete the application form after which they register their cell phone number to an Account by sending an SMS with their account number and statement key. Once registered, clients are required and obliged to provide monthly readings between the 20th and 30th of each month to avoid utility consumption being estimated. The system allows for only one registration per Account and a single mobile phone can register to more than one Account. The Account Number and Statement Key are found on the user monthly statement. Once your cell phone number is registered to an Account, the user is eligible to submit their monthly reading by sending an SMS. The Meter Number is indicated on the customer's statement and only one reading per month is acceptable. Spot checks on readings are conducted frequently by the council personnel. The City Council have the right to take confirmation readings from time to time in order to double check the readings provided by the client.

#### 2.10 Conclusion on the literature review

The literature review discussed in this chapter points out that the growing interest in compiling and editing georeferenced data by citizens has manifested itself in the growth of volunteered geographic information systems such as OpenStreetMap and Ushahidi platforms. Most of this VGI initiatives focus on offering humanitarian and social solutions to the users. Effective service delivery to power consumers calls for utility companies utilizing the available technologies and contributions from the public to support their processes.

Self-Reading (SMS) system by City of Windhoek, Namibia case study is a good demonstration of how the customers can provide information to aid in the billing process. This system implemented by the City of Windhoek lacks a mechanism to confirm the meter reading sent by the user and location of the user at the time of reading. It requires the Council personnel to conduct frequent spot checks from time to time to confirm readings sent.

# **CHAPTER 3: MATERIALS AND METHODS**

# **3.1 Introduction**

Chapter three is concerned with the software development process of the mobile and web applications. This chapter highlights the study area of the project, data identification, and collection and preparation process carried out. The various aspects of developing an electrical network database, a mobile and web application are illustrated in detail in this chapter. The final part of this chapter explains how the application was published and tested.

# 3.2 The Study Area

The study area is Langata constituency in Nairobi County which is the capital city of Kenya. The county has an estimated population of **3.138 million** (Kenya National Bureau of Statistics, 2010), within a surface area of 696 square kilometers. Nairobi is one of the forty-seven counties in Kenya with seventeen sub-counties and several wards within these sub-counties. Geographically, Nairobi County is located approximately between latitudes 1°10'S and 1°27'S in the north-south direction and longitude 36°40'E to 37°0'E in the east-west direction. *Langata constituency* is located at approximately 1°22'S and 36°44'E, with an area of **196.80 Km<sup>2</sup>** and has a population of approximately **176,314 people** (Kenya National Bureau of Statistics, 2010). Langata constituency constitutes five county wards, whose names, area and population are illustrated in Table 3.2 below.

Location/Ward Name	Population (Approx.)	Area (Sq. Km)	Description						
1. Karen	24,507	48.00	Comprises Karen, Langata, Hardy and Lenana Sub-Locations of Nairobi County						
2. Nairobi West	33,377	6.90	Comprises Nairobi West Sub-Location of Nairobi County						
3. Mugumo-ini	47,037	126.40	Comprises Mugumo-ini and Bomas Sub- Locations of Nairobi County						
4. South C	47,202	15.10	Comprises South C Sub-Location of Nairobi County						
<ol><li>Nyayo Highrise</li></ol>	24,191	0.40	Comprises Highrise Sub-Location of Nairobi County						

Table 3.2: Langata Constituency County wards.

(Source: Kenya National Bureau of Statistics, 2010).



Study area Langata constituency in Nairobi County.

Figure 3.1: Study area Langata constituency in Nairobi County (Source: Author, 2018).

Figure 3.1 illustrates the location of the study area (Langata constituency) within Nairobi County and the various sub-locations within the constituency. The sourced dataset from KPLC on the electrical network was extracted around Langata constituency area hence the constituency was selected as a case study area to maximize on the available electrical network data.

# 3.3 Summary of Project Objectives, Methods and Results

Table 3.1: Summary of project objectives, research questions, methods, and Results.

	Research Objectives	Research Questions	Methods	Output/Results		
1.	To develop an electrical network geodatabase for Recording and sharing electricity customer Meter Reading and power Incidence Data.	How can an electrical network geodatabase be developed for recording and sharing electricity customer meter reading and power incidence data?	<ol> <li>Database design of customer details using Open Model Sphere software. 2.</li> <li>Database Implementation in PostGIS and GeoServer software.</li> </ol>	An Electrical network Geodatabase with both: Spatial electrical data and Customer data information		
2.	To develop a mobile application through which users can report customer meter reading and power incidence data.	How can a mobile application be developed through which users can report customer meter reading and power incidence data?	<ol> <li>Android Mobile development, testing and compiling on Android Studio software.</li> </ol>	A mobile Application that runs on the Android platform. Name of the app. "GSOMEE Mobile App"		
3.	To develop a web application through which users can directly upload, record and share customer meter reading and power incidence data.	How can a web application be developed through which users can directly upload, record and share customer meter reading and power incidence data?	1. Web portal application development and testing using JavaScript in Node.js environment	A web Application portal that runs on JavaScript platform. Name of the portal "GSOMEE Web Portal"		
4.	To publish, share and test the application with case a study area in Nairobi, Langata Constituency.	How can this application be published online, shared and tested in the case study area?	<ol> <li>Publishing the web portal on Amazon Web Services (AWS) cloud.</li> <li>Sending sample meter reading and Incidence data to the portal from the app.</li> </ol>	Web portal that <i>records readings</i> sent from the mobile app that is can be <i>accessed</i> <i>from the internet</i> on a standard web browser		

Table 3.1 above summarizes the project methodology giving the various methods used for each of the research objectives and the output/results obtained.

# 3.4 Methodology for the Study.



Figure 3.2: Overview of Methodology (Source: Author, 2018).

Figure 3.2 is a summary or the project methodology, illustrating the various staged involved in developing the Geo-Database, mobile, and web application, the generate output and results and finally the conclusions and recommendations.

# 3.5 Data Identification

In this study, the main objective was to come up with an interactive mobile and web application to support recording and sharing electricity customer power meter readings and incidences. There was a need, therefore, to map the entire electrical network in the study area. This ensured that the customer can have his/her location identified and the associated electrical connectivity shown. There was also need to come up with a dummy customer Meter details to support the same.

In view of the objectives set, it was concluded that the data required was:

- Electrical data on Medium and Low voltage power lines, Secondary substations (Transformers) associated with the lines in the study area, Customer meter box location with dummy details.
- Kenya map showing administrative boundaries
- Dummy customer meter details associated to the above meter boxes.

# **3.6 Data Collection and Preparation**

## 3.6.1 Data Tools Used (Hardware and Software)

### ESRI Arc Map version 10.2.1.

This was used to prepared (clipping and editing) the electrical network data. The software was also used to input the required attributes for the edited electrical network data

#### Global Mapper version 18.

This was used to transform the coordinates system of the various datasets from one coordinate system to another. It also used to export data into various data formats used in the application.

#### 3.6.2 Data Collection

Data collection involved gathering the requisite data obtained from KPLC. The data were reprojected to the same coordinate system, Arc 1960, UTM 37S and saved as shapefiles data format for ease of manipulation in the PostGIS and GeoServer software. Important attributes for the different datasets were also picked from the field and used to sample the accuracy of the electrical network data obtained.

The administrative boundary data was acquired from the Survey of Kenya. The administrative boundaries had all the counties in Kenya and were used to extract the study area boundaries.

#### Table 3.3: Project Data sources

	<b>DATA TYPE</b>	CHARACTERISTICS	SOURCE OF DATA		
1	Electrical Network Data	Shapefiles Format	KPLC		
2	Administrative boundary Data, (Kenya Counties Map)	Shapefiles Format	Survey of Kenya		
3	Customer Meter Data	Excel Format	Generated		
3	Online Base Map (Open layers)	Digital Format	Online: https://openlayers.org/		
4	Mapping Libraries (leaflet)	Digital Format	Online: https://leafletjs.com/		

# **3.6.3 Data Preparation**

Clipping Electrical Network Datasets



Figure 3.3: Clipping Medium Voltage electrical network data in ArcGIS software

The boundaries that were relevant to the county and constituency of the study area were extracted from the dataset using ArcGIS. All the electrical network datasets were clipped in ArcGIS using the extracted Langata constituency boundary.

## **Data Editing**

Data editing was done to remove errors in electrical network datasets for the study area. The editing task included;

- Cleaning and quality control
- Checking and correcting the integrity of the captured data.
- Checking the coordinate system and carrying out transformations to adjust the projection where necessary.
- Others involved, removal of dangles, overshoot, undershoot and spelling mistakes.

# 3.7 Developing an Electrical Network Geodatabase

#### 3.7.1 Data Tools Used (Hardware and Software)

• Open ModelSphere Version 3.2

Open ModelSphere is an open source for data processing and UML modeling tool.This application was used for conceptual and logical data modeling as well as the physical design of the database (database modeling).

• PostgreSQL Version 10

PostgreSQL is an open source object-relational database management system used together with the PostGIS to develop the spatial database.

• PostGIS Version 2.0

PostGIS is an open source software that extends the functionalities of PostgreSQL adding support for geographic objects allowing location queries to be run in SQL. PostGIS is compliant with specifications from Open Geospatial Consortium (OGC).

• <u>GeoServer</u>

GeoServer is an open-source server written in Java. Was used to share, process and edit geospatial electrical network data. It has high interoperability and publishes data from any major spatial data source using open standards.

• <u>uDig</u>

This is a User-friendly Desktop Internet GIS (uDig), an open source desktop application framework, whose goal is to provide a complete Java solution for desktop GIS data access, editing, and viewing. In this project, uDig was used in styling the spatial data geometries before publishing.

#### 3.7.2 Database Design.

The process of creating this database design consisted of the following steps **External** modeling, Conceptual modeling and Logical modeling.

# 1.0 External modeling (User Needs assessment)

This is the determination of a finite set of potential users of the database. The External Model is the end user view of the data. The External model required the subdivision of a set of requirements and constraints into functional modules that can be examined within the framework of their external models.

These potential users information needs were determined and the data required to be housed in the database to meet those requirements. External modeling ensured a common understanding between the database developer and those who have a vested interest in the setup of the database;

The identified users of the database were *Meter Reader Supervisor* or *Meter Readers*, *Emergency Teams* and *Postpaid Customers*. The external models for the system are shown in Figure 3.3: below.



Figure 3.4: External Model Diagram

# 2.0 Conceptual modeling

'This is the process of constructing a model data used in an enterprise, independent of all physical considerations. The data model is built using the information documented in the user's requirements specifications. Conceptual database design is entirely independent of implementation details such as target DBMS software, application programs Programming languages and Hardware platform '(Connoly & Begg 2015).

Conceptual modeling involves synthesizing the External Models into an Entity-Relationship diagram (as shown in Figure 3.5: below) showing all the entities involved, their attributes and relationships. The external models for the system are



#### **Entity Relationship diagram**

Figure 3.5: Normalized Entity Relationship Diagram

## 4.0 Logical modeling

'This is the process of constructing a model of data used in an enterprise based on a specific data model, but independent of a particular DBMS and other considerations. The Logical model is derived knowing the underlying data model of the target DBMS, if the DBMS is, for example, relational, network or Hierarchical or Object-oriented.' (Connoly & Begg 2015)

The logical data model conveys the logical functioning and structure of the database and describes how the data is stored (e.g. what tables are used, what constraints are applied but is not specific to any DBMS). The logical database model is a lower-level conceptual model, which must be translated to a physical design. The steps for designing the logical data model was as follows:

- Primary and Foreign keys for all entities were specified
- All the relationships between different entities were identified and specified.
- All the attributes for each entity were identified and specified.
- Any many-to-many relationships were identified and resolved.
- Normalization of database tables was carried on each database table to make sure they complied with the 1 normalization, 2nd normalization, and 3rd normalization.

The properties of each field were defined by specifying the data type, field size, validation rule, requirement constraint, format, and indexes. This design assumed a Relational Data model involved creation schema for this database.

## The schema for this database are as follows:

PK – Primary Key FK – Foreign Key

**Relation 1:** Customer Details (ID Number (PK), Document type, Document ID, Customer name, Client telephone)

ID Number (PK)	Document type	Document ID	Customer name	Client telephon		

 Table 3.4:
 Schema for Customer Details table

#### Relation 2: Meter Details (

Meter\_Serial\_Number (PK), MeterBox\_code (FK), ID\_Number (FK), Meter\_Model, Meter\_Manufacturer, Supply\_Number, Legacy\_Number, Status\_of\_the\_service, Branch, Constituency, Location, Payment\_Mode, Maximum\_Authorised\_Load, Supply\_Phase, Connection\_type, Supply\_type, Supply\_Status, Supply\_Voltage, Tariff, Billing\_class, Meter\_Type, Substation )

Table 3.5: Schema for Meter Details table

Meter_Serial_N umber (PK)	MeterBox_ code (FK),	ID_Number (FK),	Meter_Mode l	Meter_Manufacturer	Supply Number		

Legacy_Number	Status_of_t he_service	Branch	Constituency	Location	Payment_Mod e
Maximum_Auth orised_Load	Supply_Phas e	Connection_ty pe	Supply_type	Supply_Voltage	Tariff, Billing_class
Meter_Type	Substation				

#### **Relation 3: MeterBoxDetails** (

MeterBox\_code (PK), Substation, Feeder, Feeder\_Based\_Unit, Route, Itinerary, Supply\_Location, Premise\_Number, Reference\_number, County, Branch, Constituency, Location, Status, Sub\_Location, Responsible\_Commercial\_Office, Premise\_type, Phases, Commercial\_Phase,

Number\_of\_Customer\_Meters, Street Name)

Table 3.6: Schema for Meter box Details table

MeterBox_co de (PK),	Substation	Feeder	Feede	r_Based_Unit	Route	Itinerary
Supply_Locati on	Premise_Num ber	Reference_n umber		County	Branch	Constituency,
Location	Status	Sub_Location	Respo er	nsible_Comm cial_Office	Premise_type	Phases
Commercial_P hase	Number_of_C ustomer_Met ers	Street Name				

**Relation 4: ReadingDetails** (*Reading code* (PK), *Meter\_Serial\_Number* (FK), *geo\_location*, *Date\_uploaded timestamp default, PhoneId, Value, PictureURL*)

Table 3.7: Schema for Reading Details table

Reading code (PK)	Meter_Seria l_Number (FK)	geo_locatio n	Date_uploaded timestamp default	Phonel d	Value	Picture URL

This logical model is now ready for use as the basis of a Physical Model of the proposed database.

## 4.0 Physical modeling

The physical data model was the fourth and final step in database design and it represented how the model will be built into the database. The physical database model showed all table structures, including column name, column data type, column constraints, primary key, foreign key, and relationships between tables. The steps for the physical data model design were as follows:

- Entities were converted into tables.
- Relationships were converted into foreign keys.
- Attributes were converted into columns.
- The physical data model based on physical constraints or requirements were modified.

Table 3.8 is a sample extract of SQL statements were executed to create the tables in PostgreSQL

 Table 3.8:
 SQL statements for creating tables in PostgreSQL

CREATE TABLE Customer Details
(
ID_Number varchar(70) NOT NULL,
Document_type varchar(70),
Document_ID varchar(70),
CUSTOMER_NAME varchar(70),
Client_telephone varchar(70),
PRIMARY KEY (ID_Number)
)
CREATE TABLE ReadingDetails
(
reading_code varchar(70) NOT NULL,
Meter_Serial_Number varchar(70),
geo_location varchar(70),
date_uploaded timestamp default NULL,
phoneld varchar(70),
value varchar(70),
pictureURL varchar(70),
PRIMARY KEY (reading_code),
FOREIGN KEY (Meter_Serial_Number)
REFERENCES
MeterDetails(Meter_Serial_Number)
)

#### 3.7.3 Creating a Spatial Geodatabase in PostgreSQL with PostGIS Extension

A PostgreSQL database with spatial capabilities was created in PostGIS and named 'GSOMEE\_DATABASE' as illustrated in figure 3.6. This is the geodatabase in which all datasets were manipulated before they were imported into the GeoServer.

gAdmin 4 ×				
C → C 0 127.0.01-51123	/browsec/			
i pgAdmin 4 File	• Object •	Tools • Help	p -	
A Browser				A Dashboard
E Servers (1)				
PostgreSQL 10	Create - Data	base		R
(i) e postgrea	Country Instant	anne estimates	Southern Control I	
# 🗛 Login/Group Roles	General Definit	son security	Parameters SQL	
🕮 😬 Tablespaces	Database	GSOMEE_D/	ATABASE	
	Owner	A postgres		
	Comment			
				_
	: 2		Ith Same	mail Aspend
	hand have			
/ 🖤 pgAdmin 4	×			
$\leftarrow \rightarrow \mathbf{C}$ (i) 127.0.0	1:51123/browse	r/		
	1011120/010100	•7		
🕼 pgAdmin 4	File 👻 Ol	bject 👻 To	ools 🗸 🛛 Help 🗸	
Browser				
E Servers (1)				
🖻 🕅 PostgreSQL 10				
🖃 🥃 Databases (2)	,			
GSOMEE_D	ATABASE		Cast	
🕀 😚 Casts	Create	,	CdSL	
	Pofroch		Database	
🕀 🔿 Catalogs	Neiresii		Event T 1	
🕮 💮 Catalogs 🕮 🖳 Event Tr	it Delete/Dro	p	Event Trigger	
B	ie Delete/Dro CREATE Sc	op ript	Event Trigger Extension	
B·· ♦ Catalogs B·· □ Event Tr B·· ➡ Extensio B·· ➡ Foreign	Delete/Dro CREATE Sc D Connect D	op ript atabase	Event Trigger Extension Foreign Data	
⊕ � Catalogs ⊕ ᠿ Event Tr ⊕ ∰ Extensio ⊕ ∰ Foreign ⊕ ← Languag	<sup>i</sup> é Delete/Dro <sup>on</sup> CREATE Sc <sup>D</sup> Connect D <sup>je</sup> Maintenan	op ript atabase Ice	Event Trigger Extension Foreign Data Wrapper	
B·· � Catalogs B·· □ Event Tr B·· ∰ Extensio B·· ∰ Foreign B·· ➡ Languag B·· � Schema	<sup>ig</sup> Delete/Dro CREATE Sc D Connect D <sup>ig</sup> Maintenan <sup>s</sup> Backup	op ript atabase ice	Event Trigger Extension Foreign Data Wrapper Language	
<ul> <li>⊕ · ◆ Catalogs</li> <li>⊕ · □ Event Tr</li> <li>⊕ · □ Event Tr</li> <li>⊕ · □ Extensio</li> <li>⊕ · □ Foreign</li> <li>⊕ · ○ Languag</li> <li>⊕ · ◆ Schemas</li> <li>⊕ · ● postgres</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Refreshing</li> <li>Delete/Dro</li> <li>CREATE Sc</li> <li>Connect D</li> <li>Connect D</li> <li>Maintenan</li> <li>Backup</li> <li>Restore</li> </ul>	pp ript atabase ice	Event Trigger Extension Foreign Data Wrapper Language Schema	
<ul> <li>⊕· Catalogs     <li>⊕· Event Tr     <li>⊕· Extensio</li> <li>⊕· Foreign</li> <li>⊕· Languag</li> <li>⊕· Schema:</li> <li>⊕· Dostgres     <li>⊕· Login/Group Rc     </li> </li></li></li></ul>	CREATE Sc.     CREATE Sc.     COnnect D.     Connect D.     Connect D.     Backup     Restore	op ript atabase ice	Event Trigger Extension Foreign Data Wrapper Language Schema	
<ul> <li>⊕ ♦ Catalogs</li> <li>⊕ ⊕ Event Tr</li> <li>⊕ ⊕ Foreign</li> <li>⊕ ⊕ Foreign</li> <li>⊕ ● Schemas</li> <li>⊕ ● postgres</li> <li>⊕ ● Login/Group Rc</li> <li>⊕ ● Tablespaces</li> </ul>	CREATE Sc CREATE Sc COnnect D Connect D Connect D Backup Restore Grant Wizz Ouery Too	op ript atabase ice ard	Event Trigger Extension Foreign Data Wrapper Language Schema	
<ul> <li>⊕ ♦ Catalogs</li> <li>⊕ ⊕ Event Tr</li> <li>⊕ ⊕ Extensio</li> <li>⊕ ⊕ Foreign</li> <li>⊕ ⊕ Schemas</li> <li>⊕ ♦ Schemas</li> <li>⊕ ♦ Login/Group Rc</li> <li>⊕ ● Tablespaces</li> </ul>	CREATE Sc.     Delete/Drc     CREATE Sc     Connect D     Connect D     Connect D     Backup     Restore     Grant Wizz     Query Too     Properties	op ript atabase ice ard	Event Trigger Extension Foreign Data Wrapper Language Schema	

Figure 3.6: Creating a Geodatabase in PostgreSQL with PostGIS Extension

### **3.7.4 Importing Electrical Network Datasets into PostGIS**

The datasets in the shapefile format were then imported to PostGIS by use of the PostGIS Shapefile Import/ Export Manager after a connection was established with the PostgreSQL server. Since all the shapefile were reprojected into the same Projected Coordinate System of Arc1960, UTM 37S, The SRID was set as 21037. Upon this definition, all the datasets were imported into a PostGIS table for editing and other manipulation as illustrated in figure 3.7.

			🖞 Dependeno	Name						4						•			4			•	
			SQL 🖌 Statistics							in SRID Mode Rm	21037 Create	21037 Create	21037 Create	21037 Create	21037 Create	21037 Create		Cancel	ncoding=UTF8	•			
			Properties 🖪							Geo Colun	geom	geom	on geom	e_lines_geom	ation geom	MADM		<b>t</b>	ATABASE client e	I			
			🍪 Dashboard 🛛 😋 F	Type			nection details			Table	kenya counties	langata_constituency	langata_primary_substati	langata_medium_voltage	langata_secondary_subst	lannata switch isolator	Add File	Abou	***' dbname=GSOMEE D	I			
							View con			Schema	EE_DATASETS\  public	EE_DATASETS\  public	EE_DATASETS\  public	EE_DATASETS\  public	EE_DATASETS\  public	FF_NATASETS\1 muhlic		Import	postares password='****	-			
		Help 🗸			xport Manager						esktop\[1]GSOM	esktop\[1]GSOMI	esktop\[1]GSOMI	esktop\[ 1 ] GSOMI	esktop\[1]GSOMI	eckton/[1]GSOMI			t port=5432 user=1	-			
		ct ◆ Tools ◆			Shapefile Import/E	Connection		Export	t List	efile	sers/PAUL SILALI/D	sers/PAUL SILALI/D	sers/PAUL SILALND	sers/PAUL SILALI\D	sers/PAUL SILALI/D	cerc\DALII SII AI ND		Options	dow ting: host=localhos	tion succeeded.			
	3/browser/	: • Obje			PostGI.	PostGIS		Import	-Impor	Shap	C.U	olo C:\U	/raf C:\U	C:\U	C'U	2			Log Win Connec	Connec	 		
×	127.0.0.1:5112	in 4 File			L 10	ses (2) JMFF_DATARAS	Casts	Catalogs Event Triggers	Extensions (3)	🕞 pipgsqi	🐻 postgis	🛃 postgis_top	Foreign Data W	Languages	נסוובוווסט (ג) דסרפג	iroup Roles	Jaces						
📢 pgAdmin 4	$\leftarrow \rightarrow \mathbf{C} \odot$	🖓 pgAdm	A Browser	🖶 👸 Servers (1)	🖶 💔 PostgreSQ	Databa	) +						•))) ( +			E C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	🖶 🦰 Tablesp						

Figure 3.7: Importing shapefiles into PostgreSQL database.

## 3.7.5 Installing GeoServer and Setting up a GeoServer - PostGIS Connection

Creating a workspace in GeoServer

A workspace with the name 'GSOMEE\_WORKSPACE' was created in the GeoServer. This is where all the work associated with the project was done as indicated in figure 3.8

Creating a store in GeoServer

A store was created that was used to import the datasets from the PostGIS server. A connection was therefore established between the GeoServer and PostGIS server to enable importation of the required layers as shown in figure 3.9.

Creating a workspace in GeoServer

M & C						
$\epsilon \rightarrow c$ (	localhost:8080/geoserver/web/wi	cket/bookmarkable/org.geo	server.web.data.workspace.Workspac			
Ge Ge	oServer					
About & Statu	s Configure a ne is .ogs ormation erver GSOMEE W	Orkspace w workspace				
Data Layer Previe Workspaces Stores Layers Layer Group Styles Services	w Namespace UR http://localho The namespace Submit C	<ul> <li>Namespace URI</li> <li>http://localhost:8080/geoserver/web/gsomee_workspace</li> <li>The namespace uri associated with this workspace</li> <li>Ø Default Workspace</li> <li>Isolated Workspace</li> <li>Submit Cancel</li> </ul>				
	80/genuever/web/wcbet/bootmanable/urg.geovernerwebz	fata ann'i agus e Workogas e Page 710	Logged in an admin.			
About & Status Geoderiver Lags Condense Langer Condense Langer Condense Langer Condense Langer Machine L	Workspaces Managel GeoServer workspaces Act new workspace Termine selected workspace(s)					
Data Lover Preview Withgacen Storms Lover Lover	<	Default.	Second Second			

Figure 3.8: Screenshot of workspace created in GeoServer.

While creating a connection to PostGIS the following parameters were defined, the host was set as localhost, and the port 5432 was used to connect to the database

GSOMEE\_DATABASE in PostGIS. The password of the database was seta and a connection created. The Layers to be imported were selected and imported into GeoServer as indicated in figure 3:10 below.

Creating a connection to PostGIS server and Importing Layers in GeoServer



Figure 3.9: GeoServer - PostGIS Connection Setup

Electrical network layer imported into GeoServer



Figure 3.10: Electrical network layer imported into GeoServer

## 3.7.6 Styling and Publishing Electrical Dataset Layers

#### The styling of the datasets in uDig

Once a geodatabase for the datasets had been imported into GeoServer, the layers were loaded into uDig software and given the right symbols and colors to enhance cartographic visualization of the layers as indicated in Figure 3.11. Later an SLD (Styled Layer Descriptor) file was saved for each layer and later imported into GeoServer as a new style as illustrated by and Figure 3.12. The styles for each dataset was stored in the GeoServer styles window for application to individual layer before publishing them.

#### The styling of the datasets in uDig



Figure 3.11: The styling of the datasets in uDig

## Exporting dataset SDL Files in Udig

	3	Emport SLD				1000
Device.	ENCY	00 J * 12180	TED SHAPEFRES FORM ARC, GIS + SLD FILES	+ 4+ Searc	1135 02 *	P
		Organize - New fold	der		11. •.	
		Documents *	None	Date modified	Type	See
		Mutic Distance	LOW_VOLTAGE_LINE_SECTION	6/10/2018 10:42 PM	AutoCAQ Shite	
Layers II ACT Growthere ACT ACT ACT ACT ACT ACT ACT ACT ACT ACT	ments () () () () () UISTATION ES N SUBSTATION AGE LINES DLATOR ENCY	Homegroup  Computer  Computer  Computer  MV COLLECTOP  Local Disk (C)  File name LOV Save as type SLD  (*) Hide Folders	+  H V_VOLTAGE_LINE_SECTION Document	5	we Caro	
Cache Filter Lines	Preview, Groups and	Rules A N group0 N default rule	Style Properties General Barder Labels Filter	10000 10000 10000 10000	1004 1707 4 1907 -	

Figure 3.12: Exporting dataset SLD files in uDig

#### Importing styles to GeoServer

All the layers had predefined styles as saved from uDig as SLD files were imported into GeoServer and stored as indicated in figure 3:13 below. The Layers in Geoserver were styled accordingly with their respective styles as illustrated in figure 3:14.

St	les		
Mana O 7	ge the Styles published by GeoServer dd a new style amoved selected style(s)		
¢¢	<   1   >>   Results 1 to 12 (out of 12 items)	Search	
	Style Name	Workspace	
ø	LANGATA_CONSTITUENCY	GSOMEE_WORKSPACE	
19	LOW_VOLTAGE_LINE_SECTION	GSDMEE_WORKSPACE	
0	MEDIUM_VOLTAGE_LINE_SECTION	GSOMEE_WORKSPACE	
8	METERBOXES	GSOMEE_WORKSPACE	
6	PRIMARY_SUBSTATION	GSDMEE_WORKSPACE	
9	SECONDARY_SUBSTATION	G5DMEE_WORKSAKCE	
	SWITCH_ISOLATOR	GSOMEE_WORKSPACE	

Figure 3.13: Electrical network dataset styles imported into GeoServer



Applying the styles to the Electrical network Datasets in GeoServer

Figure 3.14: Applying the Styling of in GeoServer

# 3.8 Developing a Mobile Application

## 3.8.1 Data Tools Used (Hardware and Software)

## • Android Studio:

This is an integrated development environment (IDE) for Google's Android operating system, used to provide the interface for the creation of the mobile application and handle filemanagement behind the scenes. It uses the programming language Java that is installed separately in the computer being used. The studio was used to write, edit and save the projects and the files that comprise said projects. Android Studio also provided access to the Android SDK or 'Software Development Kit', an extension to the Java code that allows it to run smoothly on Android devices and take advantage of the native hardware

• Android Phone (Emulator):

Android emulator is an Android Virtual Device (AVD) that represents a specific Android device (*Phone, Tablet, and Watch*). The Emulator was used as a target platform to run and test the android applications on the computer before installing it on an Android phone.

• A Huawei IDEOS phone running on version Android 2.2 was used for testing and debugging the application.

• Android SDK (Software Development Kit) - Android SDK provided the API libraries and developer tools necessary to build, test, and debug applications for Android. It also.

## 3.8.2 Installation Android Studio and Creating a Project

The Android studio installation file was downloaded from the android developer site and installed onto the computer. A Project was created and named 'Gsomee\_Mobile\_app'. It was also paramount to declare the lowest versions of operating systems that the application can be installed in. In this case, the lowest version declared is version 2.2 as illustrated in figure 3.15 and figure 3.16. The application can install on any other version above this. A target version (the latest) was also declared; Version 4.2.

Installation Android studio, creating a project

	🤵 Create New Projec	t
myFirstApp - [C:\User : Edit ⊻iew Naviga 聞 Ø		Project
myFirstApp		
Gradle Scripts	Configure you	r new project
	Application name:	Gsomee
	<u>C</u> ompany Domain:	gsomee.com
	Package name:	
		Include C++ Support
	Project location:	C:\Users\Public\Documents\Gsomee\Gsomee

Figure 3.15: Installation Android studio and configuring a new project.

## Configuring the target devices for the application

😫 Create New Project		
Target Android De	vices	
Select the form factors your app w	rill run on	
Offerent platforms may require separate SDKs		
90 Phone and Table		
Minimum SDK	API 17: Android 42 (Jelly Bain)	) <b>*</b>
	Lower API Texels target more devices, but have Texer features available. By targeting API 17 and later, your app will rue an approximately 96.0% of the devices that are active on the Google Play Store. Here we extensis	
	API 21: Android 53 (Lollipop)	
	API 21: Android 3.0 (Lollgrop)	
III Android Auto		
E Own		
Minimum 50K	Glass Development Kit Preview (#P) 18)	

Figure 3.16: Setting the Target Android device

#### 3.8.3 Developing an Android Mobile Application

Using java programing language and XML, the application was developed with the connection to the web application in the AWS server. The application has three different main activities (screens): Account Number Check, Reading details forms and Incidence Form Details.

Figure 3.18 and 3.18 are screenshots illustrating features on the main form of the application are designed and a sample Java programing language and XML code for the incidence form details.



Sample Screenshots on developing android mobile application forms.

Figure 3.17: Developing the android application main forms

Image: Solution in the second seco					1
Bit (Ref Chance)         Bit (Ref Chance)       Bit (Ref Cha	up       up <td< th=""><th>** * 10 0 0 0 + + &lt; 0 0 0 0</th><th>🛛 🕨 🐇 🖧 🕼 📓 🕲 🔁 🛓 💈</th><th></th><th>d H</th></td<>	** * 10 0 0 0 + + < 0 0 0 0	🛛 🕨 🐇 🖧 🕼 📓 🕲 🔁 🛓 💈		d H
<ul> <li></li></ul>		App 🖬 app 🗂 src 🗂 main 🕞 res 🔝 layout 🧕 in	cidence form_details_activity.aml		
Check	Amount	d + 0 + 4 + 15 10	cess pageum   x   📴 circular progress baruml x   📴 incidence form details activityuml x	🚔 Preview 🐡	() ***
And interlange "1", in another interlange" "1, in another interlange" "1, in another interlange" "1, in a	And Martines       And Martine       And Martine       A	omeeApp C/Users/Lenovo/Besitrop/GSOMEE/Gsomee	Relativelayout ScrollView Lineschayout Lineschayout Lineschayout Rout	📷 🛓 🕅 🛄 📑 📎+ 🚺 Nerus 4+ 🛋 25+ 🕜 Nohdron Bar 🕮 Language+	Grac
<ul> <li>A manual and a manual manual and a manual and a manual and a manual and a manual an</li></ul>	<ul> <li>The state of the s</li></ul>	grade Men	<pre>&lt;7ml version="1.0" encoding="utf-8" ?&gt;</pre>		ile
<ul> <li>Inder the intervention of the in</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Internet of the second s</li></ul>	dde	<relativelayout <br="" mulns:android="http://schemas.android.com/apk/res/android">mulns:app="http://schemas.android.com/apk/res-auto"</relativelayout>		110 p
Image: Section of the section of t	<ul> <li>Interfact</li> <li>Interfact</li></ul>	D build	xmlns:tools="http://schemas.android.com/tools"		revi
<ul> <li>The monotolicity and the monotolicity and the monotolicity of the monoto</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Indeduction</li> <li>Indeduction</li> <li>Index</li> <li>Index<!--</td--><td>Darc</td><td>android:id="8+id/incidence form details activity"</td><td> C</td><td>ew</td></li></ul>	Darc	android:id="8+id/incidence form details activity"	 C	ew
Image: Section of the section of th	<ul> <li>Immediate and the second second</li></ul>	Image: Second	<pre>android:layout_width="match parent" android:layout_bainht="match parent"</pre>		
<ul> <li>Description</li> <li>Console Height And Anticonse, Back P. (2014)</li> <li>Console Height Anticle Console Height Anticle Anticle Height Anticle Anticle Anticle Height Anticle Anticle Height Anticle Anticle Height Anticle Antis Anticle Anticle Anticle Anticle A</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Description</li> <li>Elements</li> <li>Elemen</li></ul>	Main	tools:context="com.gsomee.arp.gsomee.incidenceformDetails"	TAKE PARTING	
<ul> <li>Tenete:</li> <li>Tenete:</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Creative</li> <li>Creative&lt;</li></ul>	ene Re Re	android:background="Bcolor/Geomes Back">		
<ul> <li>Househeiden</li> <li>Househei</li></ul>	<ul> <li>indensity in the indensity of the second straight in the character is a consisting of the second straight in the character is a consisting of the second straight in the character is a consisting of the second straight in the character is a consisting of the second straight in the character is a consisting of the second straight in the character is a consisting of the second straight in the character is a consisting of the second straight in the character is a consisting of the second straight in the character is a consisting of the second straight in the character is a consisting of the second straight in the character is a consisting of the second straight in the character is a consisting of the second straight in the character is a consisting of the second straight in the character is a consisting of the second straight is a consisting st</li></ul>	Arawable	<pre>cScrollViev</pre>		
<ul> <li>The state before the state of t</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Tetratist give single - match, granted - granded - granted - granted - granted - granted - granted - gr</li></ul>	drawable-hdpi	android:layout width="match parent"		
<ul> <li>Tetransfer refer</li> <li>Tetransfer refer</li></ul>	<ul> <li>indensifiends</li> <liindensifiends< li=""> <li>indensifi</li></liindensifiends<></ul>	drawable-idpi	android:layout height="match parent"		
<ul> <li>Chanadie-chrigi <ul> <li>Chanadie-chrigi etransie etransis etratetransie</li></ul></li></ul>	<ul> <li>Tetransfer-tription</li> <li>Entransfer-tription</li> <li>Entransfer-tription&lt;</li></ul>	A addressed of the second s	android:layout_alignFarentTop="true"		
<ul> <li> <ul> <li></li></ul></li></ul>	<ul> <li> <ul> <li></li></ul></li></ul>	drawable-xhdpi	Auntoint isjout aliguratentokart= true >		
<ul> <li>Indensitier andredit</li> <li>Indensitier andredit</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Clearedit-condept</li> <li>Clearedit-condept&lt;</li></ul>	A arawable-ochdpi	android:orientation="bertical"		
<ul> <li>Elyptet</li> <li>Elyptet</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Elepter</li> <li>Belond, Scourd, unitie: checken</li> <li>elening, scourd, scourd, unitie: checken</li> <li>elening, scourd, scourd, unitie: checken</li> <li>elening, scourd, scourd</li></ul>	A and a state of the state o	android:layout width="match parent"	A INCIDENT DETAILS	
<ul> <li>■ etrinty_account_number_checkum</li> <li>■ etrinty_account_number_checkum</li> <li>■ etrinty_account_number_checkum</li> <li>■ etrinty_account_number_checkum</li> <li>■ etrinty_account_actum</li> <l< td=""><td>● etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum         • etriny, namumi       • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum         • etriny, namumi       • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum         • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum         • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum         • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum         • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum         • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum         • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum         • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum         • etriny,</td><td>🔻 🖬 layout</td><td>android:layout height="wrap content"&gt;</td><td></td><td></td></l<></ul>	● etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum         • etriny, namumi       • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum         • etriny, namumi       • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum         • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum         • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum         • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum         • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum         • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum         • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum         • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum       • etriny, account, number, checkum         • etriny,	🔻 🖬 layout	android:layout height="wrap content">		
<ul> <li> <ul> <li>■ existivy, location, letaruit</li> <li>■ existivy, location, letaruit</li> <li>■ existivy, location, letaruit</li> <li>■ existivy, rantomit</li> <li>■ existing, statisticitivity</li> <li>■ existing, statisticitivity</li> <li>■ existing, statisticitivity</li> <li>■ existing, statisticitivity</li> <li>■ existing, statistic statistication</li> <li>■ existing, statistic statistication</li> <li>■ existing, statistication             &lt;</li></ul></li></ul>	<ul> <li> <ul> <li></li></ul></li></ul>	📴 activity_account_number_check.xm	<pre><android.sumoort.design.widget.coordinatorlarout< pre=""></android.sumoort.design.widget.coordinatorlarout<></pre>		
<ul> <li>extinity, ranional</li> <li>extinity, raniona</li></ul>	<ul> <li> <ul> <li></li></ul></li></ul>	activity_location_testumi	android:layout width="match parent"	Transmin Transmin	
<ul> <li>ectivity reading details formund android : fit is System/indoes= "true"</li> <li>ectivity : eading _instruction.com</li> <li>encidence _instruction.com <li>encidence _instructin _instruction.</li></li></ul>	<ul> <li>etchiny realing details formund</li> <li>etchiny realing details formund</li> <li>etchiny realing instructions and</li> <li>etchiny realing instructions and</li> <li>etchiny setting instruction activity and</li> <li>endence instruction</li> <li>etchiny setting</li> <li>etching activity and</li> <li>etching activity activit</li></ul>	📴 activity_main.uml	android:layout height="wrap content"		
<ul> <li>activity:reading instructions.ml</li> <li>activity:reading instructions.ml</li> <li>activity:succes: page.ml</li> <li>act</li></ul>	<ul> <li>estriny: reading reductions on activity: reading reductions on the standard agroups: example returned in activity success page miles with success page miles activity success page miles activity success page miles activity success page miles activity activity activity success page miles activity success page miles activity activity</li></ul>	activity reading_details_form.onl	android:fitsSystemMindows="true"	Ates/Location	
<ul> <li>actimity success pageumi</li> <li>actimity success pageumi</li> <li>activity success</li> <li>activity succes</li></ul>	<ul> <li>activity success page and and routed in activity success page and and routed in activity and and routed in activity</li></ul>	activity_reading_instructions.xml	tools:context="com.gsomee.app.gsomee.MainActivity"		
● circlels: progress. par.ml       ● circlels: progress. par.ml         ● incidence form. détails: activity.xml       ● incidence form. détails: activity.xml         ● incidence instruction. activity.xml       ● incidence instruction. activity.xml         ● incidence instruction. activity.xml       ● instruction. activity.xml         ● instruction. activity.xml       ■ android.i.i.activity	<ul> <li>circular progress parture</li> <li>circular progress parture</li> <li>eincidence form détails activity and incidence form détails activity and incidence instruction activity and is readings. activity a</li></ul>	activity_success_page.xml	android harterende fonder fremes meiner onler 925	- Street/Prost	
<ul> <li>excidence form details, activity and activity activity and activity activity activity activity and activity and activity activity activity activity and activity activ</li></ul>	● incidence form Statist, schrötychen       ● incidence form Statist, schrötychen       ● incidence form Statist, schrötychen         ● incidence instruction activitycent       ● incidence instruction activitycent       ● incidence instruction activitycent         ● incidence instruction activitycent       ● incidence instruction activitycent       ● incidence instruction activitycent         ● incidence instruction activitycent       ● incidence instruction activitycent       ■ indiroid: layout, height = "water, is and roid: layout, height = "water, is and roid: itert/steller       ● intigeneent         ● incidence instruction       ● intigeneent       ■ indiroid: itert/style=""monesprint"       ● intigeneent         ● incidence instruction       ● intigeneent       ■ indiroid: itert/style=""monesprint"       ● intigeneent         ● incidence instruction       ● intigeneent       ■ indiroid: itert/style=""monesprint"       ● intigeneent         ● intigeneent       ● intigeneent       ■ indiroid: itert/style=""monesprint"       ● intigeneent         ● intigeneent       ● intigeneent       ■ indiroid: itert/style=""monesprint"       ● intigeneent         ● intigeneent       ● intigeneent       ● intigeneent       ● intigeneent       ● intigeneent         ● intigeneent       ● intigeneent       ● intigeneent       ● intigeneent       ● intigeneent         ● intigeneent       ● intigeneent       ● inti	🧰 circular progress baruml	/ TINTO - Event of some / torno - monotherpristo more		
encidence instruction activity and and rotation activity and ereating activity and ereating activity and ereating er	<ul> <li>incidence instruction activity and seredings_activity a</li></ul>	incidence form_details_activity.xml	ClertView	and the statistics	
<ul> <li>Teadings activity and and rotation and rotat</li></ul>	Streadings_activity-will       Streadings_activity-will         Streadings_activity-will       android: layout, beight = "match garent"         Streadings_activity-will       Improve holp:         Streadings_activity-will       Improve holp:         Streadings_activity-will       Improve holp:         Streadings_activity-will       Improve holp:         Improve holp:       Improve holp:	a incidence instruction, activity.cml	android:text="TANE PICTURE "		
<ul> <li>Tetrami</li> <li>Tetrami</li></ul>	External     android: layout, beight-"wrap, content"     android: layout, beight-"wrap, content"     android: layout, beight-"wrap, content"     android: layout, beight-"wrap, color_1"     android: layout, beight     android: layout, beight     android: layout, beight + "nonmal   italic"     android: layout, beight + "nonmal	So readings_activity.xml	android: layout width="match parent"		
<ul> <li>Emproper holi</li> <li>Emproper</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Tempmap-hdpi android:id="#+id/togreat/id="#=id/togreat/id="#=id/togreat/id="#=id/togreat/id="#=id/togreat/id="#=id/togreation"</li> <li>Tempmap-mdpi android:itattbiligement="center" android:itagout_attbiligement="center" android:itagou</li></ul>	in testaml	android:layout height="wrap_content"	د د	
Emigrap-mdpi     amtrout: tartout:	Empirespectation     android: text2lignment="center"     andr	🕨 🖬 mipmap-hdpi	android:id="8+id/topTextView"		-0
<ul> <li>Empire-shored i android: textStyle="normal   talic"</li> <li>Empire-suddi</li> <li>Empire-suddi</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Empirep-ondpi android: textStyle="nonmail   textStyle="nonm</li></ul>	idpu-detudiat 🔹 🔺	android:textUoiof= gcolof/usamerg couof 1 android:textAlicoment="center"	0	An
<ul> <li>Empirespondpi</li> <li>Empirespondpi</li> <li>Environespondpi</li> <li>Environespondpi</li> <li>Favalues</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Temperap-pohdpi</li> <li>Tem</li></ul>	🕨 🖬 mipmap-zhdpi	android:textStyle="normal italic"		droi
Perign Text	* Entroperoundigi     Design     Text       * Entroperoundigi     Design     Text       * Entroperoundigi     Entroperoundigi     Entroperoundigi       * Entroperoundigi     Entroperoundigi	🕨 🖬 mipmap-sohdpi	android:layout_marginTop="160p" />		d Me
	ages 📓 Territinal 💼 § Android Monttor 🔮 1000	<ul> <li>Periodical de la contrata de la contra</li></ul>	gn Tet		odel
The second se		P INVITE AND			

Sample Screenshots on mobile application (Java programing language and XM) code.

Figure 3.18: Developing the android application (Java programing language and XML)

### **3.8.4 Testing and Debugging the Mobile Application**

The code was tested on an Android device acting as an emulator. From the android studio, the application was executed and results are shown on an android phone connected to the computer via a data cable. Any identified bugs were fixed and process reaped till all bugs were cleared.

### 3.8.5 Compiling an Executable File and Testing on a Mobile Phone

Once the application was tested, the results were certified, and the application was compiled into an installable file (.apk). This file was loaded and installed on an android phone and tested on the phone to verify that all the related actives were working properly.

# **3.9 Developing a Web Application Locally**

## 3.9.1 Data Tools Used (Hardware and Software)

- *Code editor (visual studio code):* This is a source code that was used to edit and write the application code
- *Command prompt:* This was used to run the code and install the required packages.
- *Chrome browser:* This was used to display web application when running.
- *Web development framework environment (node.js):* This is a JavaScript environment that facilitated the creation and operation of a web application through setting up of a local server and operating the application within the server.
- *Web development libraries:* This provided additional features for the web application e.g. Express library, PostgreSQL library etc.
- *PostgreSQL Database:* This provided the storage of spatial and customer data for the web application.

#### 3.9.2 Installation Node.js Framework Environment and Libraries

Node.js is an open-source, JavaScript run-time environment that allowed the development of a web application and runs the application on the server-side. Node environment was downloaded and installed from the main node website: https://nodejs.org/en/. Once the node environment is installed in the pc, special commands were used to initialize the node application from the command prompt, which forms the foundation of this web application.

#### 3.9.3 Creation and Population of PostgreSQL Tables

PostgreSQL was used to hold all the application customer and electrical network data. Customer databases tables were create using SQL statements and the data from generated dummy customer information was used to populate the tables. These datasets were used to be to run and query the web application.

#### **3.9.4** Coding of the Web Application

The application was developed using the following scripting and programming languages libraries and tools: *HTML, JavaScript, OpenLayers, PostgreSQL, and PostGIS*. Figure 3.19: shows the **web-service architecture** that was adopted to facilitate the client and server-side scripting.



Figure 3.19: Web Service schema

Programming of the web application required *back-end* (*server-side*) features which included connecting to PostgreSQL database using the installed libraries and development of the applications *Business Logic*. For the *Front-end* (*client-side*), the user interface was designed and coded based on HTML and JavaScript. Specific pages in the client-side which had map were connected to the GeoServer to display certain layers onto the maps. All the coding was done with visual studio code editor and uploaded to an online code storage application called repositories.

Visual Studio code editor was used to edit the application code in both HTML and JavaScript. Figure 3:20 is a screenshot of part of the code used to develop the application.



Web Portal programming on visual studio code editor

Figure 3.20: Web Portal programming on visual studio code editor

## 3.9.5 Testing and Debugging the Web Application

The application was frequently tested after every major change and debugged using the command prompt. Using specific node commands of the command prompt the application was set to run and be accessed via the localhost on a predetermined port in a browser. At this stage, the errors encountered while testing was displayed on the command prompt which allowed for easy debugging of the error.

# 3.10 Publishing, Sharing and Testing the Application

## 3.10.1 Data Tools Used (Hardware and Software)

- Amazon Web service (AWS): Provided the server to host the application (h/w)
- *Putty:* This is a windows software that allowed remote connection to AWS computer on the server using an IP address provided.
- *GPS enabled Android smartphone:* This was used to record and share sample incidence and meter reading data and upload the same on the web portal.



# Web linkage Implementation

Figure 3.21: Applications interaction on the cloud (Source: Author, 2018)

## 3.10.2 AWS Account Registration and Creation Server Instance

## **Amazon Web Services**

To enable the application to be accessed remotely, Amazon Web Services were used for hosting the application in the cloud. Figure 3.23: shows the Amazon Web Services interface after registering for an account.

Amazon	Web	Services	interface
--------	-----	----------	-----------

Ele Edit Veru Hatory Bodmaris Tools Heb 10 ANS Management Console +			× 10 -
🔶 🔒 https://corsole.imut. wnazon.com/conscie/hohuz/#		v. 🥲 🚺 🐻 - Gaope	○ 4 4 公 6 * · ■
🗌 Query moble with Go 💩 Stakespeare at 490: 👹 M	30 Acces   P.C. Barcel . 🚵 Partal for ArcG15 101 🚜 Server easy	ways to s & Mapping the 2010 U Q. PhoneGap   Apps Hon	e 🚟 guery Mobile Forms 🐧 Official Colline Yellowo 🛛
👔 Services v Edit v			Alachael × Global × Help ×
Amazon Web Services			Additional Resources
Compute & Networking Direct Connect Deficient Network Connection Days	Database DynamoDB Redictable and Scalable NISGL bala Store	Analytics Data Pipeline Cictestration for Data-Driven Wondburg.	Getting Started See our documentation to get started and learn more about how to use our senices.
EC2 Windel Servers in the Could	ElastiCache	Elastic MapReduce Managed Manage Managed	Trusted Advisor
Route 53 Statete Eorean Name System	RDS Managed Reldiooal Deinbase Service	Kinesis Real-titre Processing of Streaming Big Lata	Best practice recommendations to save money, improve fault tolerance, increase
VPC notified churches	💼 Redshift uanaged Patabyle-Scali Data Warehouse Sarvoa	App Services	pertarmanca, and close security gaps.
WorkSpaces Demospaces	Deployment & Management	AppStream	Service Health
Storage & Content Delivery	CloudFormation Terrainot AVIS Resource Cranton	CloudSearch Immuged Saarch Survice	<ul> <li>All services operating normally.</li> </ul>
CloudFront Blobal Content Delivery Network	CloudTrail User Activity and Change Tracking	Elastic Transcoder Essyloruse Scalabe Institution	Updated May 06.2014.15.22.00 GMT=0200 Service Health Dashboard
Glacker Archive Storage in the Cloud	CloudWatch Resource and Application Monitoring	SES Emilio Service	Cot Start Dane
53 Scatable Storage In the Cloud	Etastic Beanstalk AVIS Appleating Container	IN SNS Pueh Montcatton Service	Concelo Home
Storage Gateway ptegniles Cu-Prenaes F Envronments with Cloud	IAM Secure AVIS Access Control	SQS Nessage Queue Gerace	
Storkijge	Cope/Works Dev/Ops Application Namagement Service	SWF Monthew Service for Coordinating Auplication Components	Find & boy serfweetplace Find & boy serfweek, lunch with 1-Circle and pay by the hoar
. 28. 2008 - 2014, Artenden Web Services, 166, 6 Arte &	sfiliatosi. All sights roserved. Privecy Policy Terms	of Use	Feedback
ottps://console.aws.amozon.com/easecnepreduite/wrewt/meme			

Figure 3.22: Account Registration for Amazon Web Services

The Amazon Elastic Compute Cloud (Amazon EC2) service was set up on the server. The Amazon EC2 feature provides resizable compute capacity in the Amazon Web Services (AWS) cloud. Figure 3.24 shows an EC2 instance being set-up.



Figure 3.23: Setting up Amazon Elastic Compute Cloud instance

As the instance was set up, the system allocated the user a public Internet Protocol (IP) address that allows one to use the resource remotely; in this case, the IP was *http://13.59.168.60:5437*.

#### 3.10.3 Configuring the Server and Installing the Required Software

Using putty the server was remotely logged into the server form the local computer, a password and firewall were set up. The following software was installed on the server nodes environment, PostgreSQL database, GeoServer. Using the PostgreSQL on the local machine the PostgreSQL on the server was connected to and a database created with tables which were later populated with the relevant data.

🕵 PuTTY Configuration		×
Category:	Basic options for your PuTTY se Specify the destination you want to conne Host Name (or IP address)	ssion ct to Port
Bell Bell Window Window	ubuntu@f13.59.168.60 Connection type: ◯ Raw ◯ Telnet ◯ Rlogin ④ SSH	22
	Load, save or delete a stored session Saved Sessions	
Colours 	Default Settings A_Gsomee-server-aws-2 Gsomee-server-aws-2 Gsomee-server-aws-2 Gsomee-server-droplet	Load
Telnet Rlogin ⊕ SSH Serial		Delete
	Always Never Only on cl	ean exit
About	Open	Cancel

Figure 3.24: Putty configuration to connect to the database

#### 3.10.4 Uploading of Web Application Code to the Server

From the online backup repository, the application code was downloaded onto the server using **git** commands. The installed GeoServer could be accessed via the browser locally using the servers IP address and port 8080. In GeoServer, layers were created from shapefiles stored in PostgreSQL database in the AWS server.

#### 3.10.5 Running and Testing the Web Application Remotely

Once the code is uploaded and setup onto the server, it was the executed to run locally onto the server and accessed remotely onto and browser using the servers **IP address 13.59.168.60 Port: 5437.** 

# **CHAPTER 4: RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS.**

## **4.1 Introduction**

Chapter Four describes the findings of the study. The results on the various databases designed and implemented, the Mobile application developed, and the web portal launched on the cloud server and sample readings and incidences recorded to the web portal application. In this chapter, the obtained results were discussed and in the end, the challenges of implementing both applications pointed out.



# 4.2 Data Collection and Preparation Results

Figure 4.1: Electrical network data prepared in ArcGIS

All the relevant datasets were collected from the identified sources. Figure 4.1: indicates the final output of all the electrical network dataset clipped in ArcGIS using the Langata constituency boundary. The electrical network shape files prepared on ArcGIS were exported in shapefile format to be uploaded to PostGIS. The attribute data was edited to remove unwanted columns and the final output saved as a shapefile.
## 4.3 Developing an Electrical Network Geodatabase

4.3.1 Output on Design of customer Details Tables.



Figure 4.2: Designed customer details data imported in PostGIS

Figure 4.2: illustrated above indicates the final output after the customer data details tables have been designed and imported into PostGIS and relationships created using the relevant primary and foreign keys.

## 4.3.2 Output on Spatial Geodatabase in PostGIS and GeoServer Output.

[1a.] Results on the imported spatial electrical network data into PostGIS



Figure 4.3: Spatial Geodatabase in PostGIS and GeoServer output.

The Figure 4.3: illustrated above indicates the final output after the spatial electrical network data imported into PostGIS. The data was stored on Gsome geodatabase on PostGIS and later used to create the layers in GeoServer.

#### [1b] Results on the final layers, workspace, and projection in GeoServer

About & Status	Lay	ers					
Server Status     GatServer Lugs     Ki Conset Information     Acout Geoferner		e the lay M a reme impose set	ers being published by GeoGerver Gyer Antad layers				
Dorta	45	< 1	> >> Results 1 to 7 (out of 7 to	nui)	is faarch		- Manager
Layer Provins		tithe	Title	liune	Store	Buthest	Marine SR5
Workspacer		18	langeta_constituency	GOOMEE_SIGNOPAGE Langers_(Druthware)	GECHREE_CATURASE	4	EP99-21007
a pares	62	14	langata_kov_votage_kom	d22342E_H00432942E3angata_low_softape_ines	USCHEE, DATABASE	1	£950.21037
Court Group		24	largets_medium_votage_lines	GSORREE_WERRSPRICE tangets_medium_viritage_lives	GSDHEE_DATABASE	4	EP90-21037
a Lawr Groupt				contain and and in the second second	CONTRACT CATAGONY	1	1000-21011
Lawr Groupt B Shylun			Tempella_readiritement	CONTRACT INCOME THE PARTY OF A DESCRIPTION OF A DESCRIPTI	CONTRACT OF LIGHTSE	*	Proventing)
Career Groups:		*	langata_provav_pubmicon	GSOMEE_INONSPACE targets_innav_jubitition	GEOREE ONTAGASE	-	EPSG 21037
Lawr Groupe 9 Styles kervices		-	Tempila, materiana Tempila, presevo, substation Tempila, recordary, substation	USCHEL, NORSPACE Language and Antonio USCHEL, NORSPACE Language and Antonio USCHEL, NORSPACE Language secondary, substation	GEOREE_DATABASE GEOREE_DATABASE		EPSG-21037

Figure 4.4: Final electrical network data layers workspace and projection in GeoServer The layers were stored in the workspace "*GSOMEE WORKSPACE*" as indicated in Figure 4.4: above. The workspace name and layer name were used to request for the layer from GeoServer to the Web portal application.

[1c] Results on the published data layers in GeoServer

← → C @ localhost (0)	0/geoserver/web/wicket/books	narkabin/org-gemerser.web.data.layer.Navel.ayerPage719	
Geo Serve	r		Logged in as admin.
About & Status Server Serus Concerner Logs Concerner Logs Concerner Construction Mont Conference Data	Add a new layer Add a new layer Add layer from (SSOME) You can chefr a new fedt On displaces you can also men is a list of measures of	worksSPACE-050MEE_DATABASE	
ial Stores.	Published	Layer name	Action
Layers	4	langata_constituency	Public agen
Shiel	4	iangata, low, veltage, ines	Publish again
Services	4	langsta, medium, wilage, Inen	Putnish again
a wette	4	langata_meterboxes	Publish again
WC5	4	langata_primary_addetators	Putron again
Its week	4	langata_secondary_silostation.	Publish again
Settings	4	langeta_surigitsectors	Pulling again
Gobal     Sobal     Maga Proceeding     Refer Access	(cc) (c) (c) (c)	Kerva countee Results 0 to 0 (suit of 0 iters)	Publik

Figure 4.5: Published spatial electrical network data in GeoServer

The Figure 4.5: illustrated above indicates the imported, styled and published in GeoServer that was requested and rendered in the web portal maps rendered on the web portal map using JavaScript code map and leaflet Library.

# 4.4 Developing a Mobile Application.

The Figure 4.6 below illustrates the application permissions that the user is instructed to allow during installation of the application on the phone. These permissions are required in order for the application to operate. These permissions include *permission for the application to use the phone location, camera*, and *storage*.



Figure 4.6: A Screenshot illustrating the requested application permissions.

The application can be accessed through the Icon "Gsomee" that appears on the desktop of the phone after installation and when the icon is clicked the application is launched. Figure 4.7 is a screenshot illustrating the application icon on the desktop.



Figure 4.7: A Screenshot illustrating application icon on the android phone desktop

## Android Mobile Application Results

#### Home Page





Figure 4.8 illustrates the final design of the mobile application main page. The page is made up of a simple user-friendly interface with the application title, a link ('Meter Linking') to execute the meter reading process and an icon ('Power Incidences') to execute the incidence reporting process. Meter Reading Instructions and Reading page



Figure 4.9: The mobile application Meter Reading and Instructions page

The figure 4.9 above illustrate the mobile application instructions page used to inform the user of what the meter reading process entails. After which the user will be requested to input his/her account number in the next page.

The application confirms the meter number from the server and allows the user to take a picture of the reading. The next window after the account is confirmed requests for a picture of the meter to be taken and the value indicated on the meter as the reading be input by the user in the form provided below the photo taken.

The user clicks on the submit button to send the information to the portal. This step requires an internet connection on the user's phone and location option turned on. A notification appears to inform the user the data has been sent. Incidence Reporting Instruction and Reporting page

👽 🖬 🕸	0.0K/s 👅 📶 📶 🗲 🧰 72% 5:53 PM	👽 🖬 🜵	0.0K/s 🝅 📶 🕺 🕶 72% 5.53 PM
POV			
Report any incidence	electrical power related es. Take a picture and	INCIDENT D	DETAILS
fill the the area,	form with details about street/road in which the	Name :	First and Last Name
incidence descr	e occured and briefly ibe the incidence.	Phone	07xxxxxx
	- REOMEE -	Area :	Area/Location
	REPORT	Street	Street / Road
		Description :	Brief Description
		<b>&gt;</b>	SUBMIT

Figure 4.10: The mobile application Incidence Reporting and Instruction page

The figure 4.10 illustrates the mobile application instructions page used to inform the user on what the power incidence reporting process, which the user will be requested to take the picture of the incidence, fill details a form indicating the *informant name, phone number, area the incidence happened, the street* and *a description of the incident*.

The user clicks on the submit button to send the information to the portal. This step requires an internet connection on the user's phone and location option turned on. A notification appears to inform the user the data has been sent. Data upload Acknowledgement page





The figure 4.11 above illustrate the mobile application data upload acknowledgment page used to inform the user that the upload process successful and provides an option for the user to return to the main page through the "Home" icon.

# 4.5 Developing a Web Application Locally.

### Web Application Portal Results

The final output result of the developed system was a dynamic Web application that can be used as a platform to record and share meters reading and incident data sent from the mobile application. Users can also query the portal and retrieve various information. The portal is made up of the following main Pages

#### [1] Home Page Output

The Home page is the initial page that the user interacts with when they load the portal through the IP address (http://13.59.168.60:5437). It displays a brief description of the system and its purpose. From this page, a user can download the manual on how to use the portal and the mobile application .apk file to be installed on the user's phone. Figure 4.12: illustrates the home page when the user inputs in the IP address to the portal.

C @ 13.	58.168.60-5437			☆
GSOMEE			Adv	nin Partal Login
	Welcome to Gasomee P Derive is an indicate that is drived at excerning the pre- metric of the second seco	ortal		
	Tutorial PDFs the result of the second second and an the restance of the second second second second the second second second second second second second second the second secon	Mobile Application APK The his participant is a used to associate the Basesse mobile game press for explore descent		

Figure 4.12: Web portal home page

### [2] Dashboard Page

C @ 13.58.168	50.5437/dateboard						\$
GSOMEE	1	QUERY	CUSTOMERS: NAME(S)			Q	÷
	Total Number of Anadings Persits Fortpart Meter	ed vs Total Number of	Number of House Incidences Re	peried Per Sub-Location			
	The local sector of	Dandry	Same Lang	ita <b>Banda</b> Harda Hainoin West	88		
A	Total Number of Pa	dpaid Males	- 62		Ksh.1 20	)6,90	
Destriesant					The area four many Galeran	unite a general (ess als o non es general (ess als	
inadings				× .			
an Merri		6 m					
L Institution	Total Nordon of Deading	p Accepted Vethadrige B angeta Constituency (	ajactad Par month	Total Number of	Raadings Accepted Vs Readings Rejec (Langets Constituency)	tod Par month	
Contact	10 Total Mandaer of Pendler	Rijectet hits have	ter of Rowthig Accepted		011 (012) (013)	_	
Demerver	1			600 170 600			
	-			40			
				20			
	January Hiercary Marc	e Ayri May	Are Aly	Jamua) Patrials	March April Map	Jula July	

Figure 4.13: Web portal Dash board page

Figure 4.13 illustrates the dashboard menu that provides a platform for the user to obtain summary statistics of the data recorded in the portal. The user can get information such as:

- Total Number of Readings Received Vs Total Number of Postpaid Meters
- Number of Power Incidences Reported Per Sub-Location
- Total Number of Readings Accepted Vs Readings Rejected Per month
- Total Number of Readings Accepted Vs Readings Rejected Per month
- Number of Power Incidences Reported Per Month
- Number of Power Incidences Reported Per Month

The figure 4.14 illustrates the Reading Page main window with the details of the readings sent to the portal by the customer. The user can further click on the details link on each customer details on the table to open customer meter readings and location on map section as illustrated in figure 4.15 below.

This section indicates the reading sent by the customer details and its location on the map against the actual location of the meter as captured by KPLC database. This enables verification of the customer's location at the time of reading the meter.

← → C 0 13.59,168.	60:5437/aiReadings									4	
GSOMEE	ш	QUERY	CUSTOMERS: NAI	AE(S)						Q	1
	GSOMEE READINGS	Bigging							Custo	Gsomee mer Readings v.0.1	
₽	<b>£</b>	Shaw 10	• entries				2	earch:			
Dashboard	1112	Customer Name	Account II Number	Meter II Number	Itine	tary 🕸	Date Uploaded	Value		11	
E Readings	Gsomee Readings	PAUL SILALI WEYESA	3242267-02	60612527	2153 5025	208001428- 26	Sep 1st 2011	0638	>		
sdew 🔑	This is a table of all meters readings submitted to Gsomee. This data is acquired from the database.	PAUL SILALI WEKESA	3242267-02	60612527	2153	-208001428- 26	Aug 8th 2011	395130	5	Setada	
A Incidences	The detail button is a link to the reading details.	PAUL SUAU WEKESA	20-0261228	60739471	2153 5029	.208002351- 24	Jan 3rd 2011	23384	\$	<b>Brah</b>	
	Total Readings	PAUL SILALI WEVESA	20-0261228	60739471	2153	208002351-	Jan 2nd 2011	662387	>		
Contact	C	PAUL SILALI MEKESA	8221920-02	60739471	2153 5029	208002351-	Jan 1st 2011	217793	>	Details	
Geoserver		Showing 1 to 5	of 5 entries					Previ	sno	Next	
	G50MEE:P0RTAL2018								© PAUL	SILALI WEK	ESA

# [3a] Readings Page (Part 1) - Main Window

Figure 4.14: Web portal Readings Page - Main Window



[3b] Readings Page (Part 2) - Details Link

Figure 4.15: Web portal Readings Page - Details Link



#### [4] Maps page (With Open Street Map and World Imagery)

Figure 4.16: Web portal Map page (With Open Street Map and World Imagery base maps)

The figure 4.16 illustrates the Map page, main window with the details of *the electrical network, open street map background layer, reading and all the incidences* sent to the portal. The layer can be switched on and off to display them on the map from the legend menu box.

## [5] Power Incidences Page

GSOMEE							Terror of the local division of the local di
		QUERY CUSTOM	RS: NAME(S)	•			٩
	GSOMEE POWER IN	CIDENCE5					Correst Rose titlecoli 201
		there is entry.				hierchi	
Dashtesard		Informate Nome II	Arts	Street/Road	Date Reported	Attended Te	
2	1	ECONFERENCE.	RUPTUALLEY, HOASE	rijabi Tawa Ka	Dec 1012012	* Fatte	-
Readings	Gsomee Incidences Report	EMMADO OMONDI	NAURU	Observice and AU	PMD 146 2072	×ralia.	8.000
(1989)	The log fact of all househouse reported to General	Advances there	MERU	Nuri Nchaka Street	Jan for 2013	80/attar	Contract of Contra
	This has 's acquired from the dealese.	HUMMODE.	WEITLANDS, NRB	ang 6) Westaniti Lic	Sep. 118,2012	(W-False	-
and designs	Total Incidences	(( DACHEM/	39444	Says (Wells Nd	May 148,2012	-Minatha	8.222.38
E Restwood	1.3	JA465778787	THERA	Mgoika Rd	Firm flat 3011	(C.Fattan	
Contact		TOTIK, MAWARI'N	MINU, MSA	Green Wasst Dr.	1 min + 12 20 42	<b>K</b> False	8.222.0R
		#82.97V 01.000.04	ASS/AND TOWN	Neptonia NA	Avg 1st 2012	Nyalia	1000
Generative		721107 XXXXXX	LANGATA, NITE	Dopen Rd	Wws-101.2012	N7alta	-
		QUINCE, Devalu	ELDONET	Walke Ad	301310.2012	W.Failur	<b>6</b> 22 3
		Showing the 18 of 17 where				Perma 1	2.1 Hot
							1
	DIONER ROSTAL THE					20	001765110465

Figure 4.17: Web portal Power Incidences Page

[5] Power Incidences Page - Details Link (1a) on Open street map Base n
---



Figure 4.18: Web portal Power Incidences Page Details Link 1



[5] Power Incidences Page - Details Link (1b) on World Imagery map Base map

Figure 4.19: Web portal Power Incidences Page Details Link 2

The figure 4.17, figure 4.18 and figure 4.19 above illustrate the Power Incidences Page, with the details of the incidences sent to the portal by the informant. The user can further click on the details link on each incidence reported opening 'incidence reported details and location on map' section.

This section indicates the detail of the incidence sent by the informant, and its location on the map. This enables the emergency teams to easily locate and plan there movement. Attached is also a photo of the incidence that gives a clear image of the scene. This enables the team to interoperate the scene and prepared required tools and equipment.

The informant description of the incidence sent by the user from the phone is also displayed on the details window

#### [6] Contacts Page

C @ 13.59.16	8.6054317/identact			Q 1
SSOMEE	=	OUERY CUSTOMERS: NAME(\$)	1980	e e
	Gsomee contacts			porter Greath 201
Y		-		
ull Destinant	Paul Sifali Wekesa Westlands, NPB	Elijah Dennis .M www. Msa	AlphaMyles W, Silali Riuma Coority, KSM	JayPrice .M Silali Bungoma County, BGM
	J +2540000000	J+2540000000	<b>J</b> =2540000000	J-25/00/0000
deadings	2 - Harmonner	J «Samona	<b>₽</b> +254xxxxxxxxx	J+(Saccours)
and the	S putweinutgenut com	🛎 dehnmeng@gm4Loxft	🕿 epratytersteidymal.com	EppPrecision@gmul.com
A materies	Allowing and Allowing	tarmin. Inches	- and a second	Annual annual
S Contact				

Figure 4.20: Contacts Page

The figure 4.20: below illustrate the contract page that can be modified and customized with contacts of team members to enhance communication within the two function of meter reading and emergency response.

The figure 4.21-26, below illustrate the various ways users can carry out searches on the portal based on;

- Search by Customer Name
- Search by Meter box: Itinerary

For all the searches the meter location was indicated on the map against the readings received.

## [A] A Search Option (Search by Customer Name)

[6] A Search Carried out of the customer "PAUL SILALI"

CONST.	· Maratai	TITLE CLETOWING WARKING	( <b>6</b> )	P
	Q. Search Customer	[NAME] PAOL SEAL		-
A	100 ( 10 ( 10 ( 10 ( 10 ( 10 ( 10 ( 10			Sec.
Delibert	12870948.8	III DUTTENIK KANK	D _ MLIMADAR	C PROVIDE T
ereset.	America .	And they would	4.000 1.000000	1

Figure 4.21: Web portal Name Search page

[6] Customer "PAUL SILALI" - Profile link

GSOMEE	±	QUERY CUSTOMERS	e NAME(S) *			9
	PROFILE PAUL SILA	LI WERESA The called Park Plan Weight				Size Latterer Fol V
U		Show 32 . w leafness			Secon	
Dathboard		METER NUMBER	ACCOUNT NUMBER	ETATUS		
		60739471	#221920-02		Active	ment Server -
Readings	PAUL SILALI WERESA	80612327	5242267-82		Active	Billion Denses
-	C further BERNER	42734217	mipar		Active	With Territor
- Alama	Prove #240 School III	9924344	4119656-82		Autive	-
- Building of	TRACT WINESA This data is experied from the branches for the state is a reported from the	413013	6200012-01		Active	Rose Develo
ALCONTRACT.	and a second	4048	9647909-40		Retive	Beer Street and
Centerr	Total Motors	stretakan.	198208-01	2	nipendelt	Billion Darray
	i otal meters	20284307	2115062-62	1	againsteal	Million Trease Co.
Genterner	9	106326	138155-01	3	umiliateo	Bana (Second
		Staning the Exceloration .				Previous 1. New

Figure 4.22: Web portal Customer – Profile page



[6] Customer "PAUL SILALI" (Meter Details and Location on Map) - Meter Details link

Figure 4.23: Web portal Customer – Meter Details and Location page

[6] Customer "PAUL SILALI" (Meter Reading and Location on Map) - Meter Details link



Figure 4.24: Web portal Customer – Meter Reading and Location on Map

### [B] A Search Option (Search by Meter box: Itinerary)

[7] Meter box: Itinerary "2153-208002351-502924"

	Search Materials ( d	anne retroets or eneary) 2153-208002951-500 en manuel acc	1924	8.7		-
	Search Meterilics ( 1	aneary): 2153-206002351-60 es minimizenso	1924			-
	an element		(24)4 (			1.0
Landarder Landarder	a see					
La norteuret	it sime					
Landard La Landard Landard Lan						and the
E handrage All	18 900718-810.0000	I NARAWINI	100000467	invite .	HUMBOR OF CLOTOMERS	
	a seatth	GH	2112200022221002254	No among	10	
A man A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	anne	100	1110.0000000000000000000000000000000000	reprints	5 K	
	estanco M		Tris measure moved	information and include	) (	
	Arrest?		artia Jummaini - Saltare	HORMONY,		and the lot of the lot
Conser .	voltageme	010010-010-0100	programmatic (minute)		58	-
and the second se	attr:	(1007)(1017) (01.70) (01.70)	princessory-conver-	and the second	3	-
	11min	22274 PL220. Public	artis commander excluse	represent	1	
	219487 ·	CONTRACTOR NON-	The second of initial	HERMONYA.	34	
	winter .	(1007) (11) (11) (11) (10)	pela concepte conver-	equipment.		-
	erns:	DEPENDING NUMP	the constant service	PERMIT.		
and the second se	a har a second states				100 M	Talla Inc. of the line
	Part a com					

Figure 4.25: Web portal Meter box: Itinerary search page

### [C] A Search Option (Search by Meter box: Code)

[8] Meter box: Code "144357" (Meter Details, Meter Reading, and Location on Map)

and with	= +++21*	Germ ELEPHANEN	anami (h)	5.e		· @ ·
	METERBOX 144357					
Ŷ	ത്ത					
	େ ତ	THE MANNER	inactional example	ACCULAT WARREN	ii mini	
fullent of	-Cancelland	4428	Second .	settes:	datase	-
and a second	144212	Converge back of Converse				
	Calculate City					
Maga	And the same in the second second second second					
	Total Meters					
Creater!	1					
- Constant 	1 Customer Meter Details and Location	n-on Map				
r Cantant   Annan A	Customer Meter Details and Locatio	n-on Map Tracting during	10-10-10-10-10-10-10-10-10-10-10-10-10-1	and longing to some	.). J. John	1 1 2 2 2 3 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Conset	Customer Meter Details and Locatio	n on Map Tress dataget on of the num			in Alexander	1 1 2 2 2 4 2 4 2 4 2 4 2 4 2 4 2 4 2 4 2 4
-	Customer Meter Details and Locatio	n-on-Map Tree courses d'annual Non-tree 1990	SCHLUMBERGER			F Gan Invation Contraction Contraction Contraction
-	Customer Mener Details and Locatio	n on Map Tree distance distance more man 1338 Langers	SCHLUMBERGER Koren			The first fits
-	Customer Memer Details and Location	n on Map Tree distance distance more man 1338 Langers	SCHLUMBERIER Karen			The first fits
- <b>Conse</b> t	1 Customer Miner Details and Location	n-on Map Trois distance diseased more trans 1338 Langets Langets	SCHLUMBERGER Koren Tanana Koren			The factor
	1 Customer Miner Decale and Location	n on Map Trois disease disease 1338 Langna Langna 144357	SCHLUMBERIER Erron			

Figure 4.26: Web portal Meter Code: search page.

## 4.6 Publishing, Sharing and Testing the Application

#### 4.6.1 Publishing and Sharing the Application on AWS Server.

The figure 4.27: below illustrate the sever properties and status on AWS. This server was charged based on the traffic received to the portal. Updates to the portal sent to the server through the IP address provided.



Figure 4.27: Published Web portal on AWS server

#### 4.6.2 Testing the Mobile Web Application Remotely

A limited number of random users were requested to download the application and test it on their personal phones. The users were drawn from a group of selected friends and classmates. The group that was selected to test the mobile application had varying skills in using mobile applications, they were approached and asked for their opinion on the application. Application testing was done to rate different aspects of both the web and mobile application including functionality, the graphical user interface, user-friendliness and whether users easily understood the general concept of the system.

## 4.7 Discussion and Analysis of the Results

The results indicate that the web portal tool developed provides refined information for different categories of users. The meter reading team are able to find out useful information on the customer account details, readings submitted by the customers, the location of the customer at the time the reading was taken, and a picture of the meter indicating the reading. This kind of information requires a web browser and aces to the internet.

On the other hand, the mobile application feedback from the users indicated that the application was user-friendliness, with simple functionality and an impressive graphical user

interface. Most of the users easily understood the general concept of the system. The visualization of data both spatial and non-spatial on a web platform underscores the importance of spatial information. Utilization of a spatial enabled DBMS such as PostgreSQL allows one to store both spatial data (electrical power lines, actual customer meter locations, and the customer reading location) and non-spatial data (customer account details) in a central location and in one platform. This has the benefit that data security is not compromised should one need to configure users and their permissions on the relational database.

The deployment of the web portal tool to the cloud provides for a wider community of users. This additionally offers the capability for high availability and scalability of the solution. Many systems have failed due to a high number of users accessing the application. The cloud provides for the solution to scale in and out depending on usage. Additionally, the effect of downtimes prevalent in enterprise systems is minimized.

### **4.8** Challenges in Implementing the Application

#### (1) GPS Inaccuracy

The Android GPS precision while recording and submitting both meter readings and power incidences are largely dependent on a number of factors: The type of phone, network provider signal strength and presence of obstructions and buildings.

#### (2) GPS Battery Power consumption

There is a slight increase in the power consumption of a phone every time the GPS module (Location option) is used. The Location option on the Android platform consumes the phone's battery at a high rate. At the time of using the application on the phone, the user is required have the GPS module on.

#### (3) Proving the Credibility of the Reported data

The credibility of the reported data was hard to prove. Since the application is open to the public, any malicious user can decide to post an inaccurate incidences report to the portal. A way to sieve the accurate from inaccurate incidence reports was a challenge while implementing this application on the incidences part. On the Meter reading part, the user has to input the account, which is verified in the system in order to proceed with taking the reading.

# **CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS**

This chapter will highlight an overview on the suggestions for future research, recommendations and conclusive remarks on the project when matched to the general and specific objectives. This project aimed at developing a complementary mobile and web-based application for recording and sharing electricity customer meter reading and power incidence data.

#### **5.1 Conclusions**

The developed mobile and web application met the stipulated objectives by demonstrating how the meter readers, the meter supervisors, and the emergency teams can retrieve the vital information they require for their operation on a timely basis. The web portal application can enable users to identify the location of incidences and reading on the map. The measure, digitize, zoom and pan tools on the displayed map enabled users of the system to interact with the dynamic map to obtain desired information. The map, therefore, served a vital role in equipping the user with direction information and orientation during fieldwork visits.

The mobile application power incidence reporting platform is aimed at improving the resolution of these incidents and ultimately contribute to maintaining a constant supply of power to the customers. This application allows users to report any incident witnessed that occurs on the electrical network as they go by there day to day duties. Majority of the users also indicated that the application is generally user-friendly and easy to understand. The research objectives can thus be said to be achieved because the application had good reception among the target users that participated in the testing process.

There exists an opportunity to tap into this area in KLPC today because of the increased penetration of smartphones and also the increased interest of the company to reduce the number of power outages. This application seeks to improve the outage management by using information from the public. With the application, the emergency team can prioritize on how to use the available resources to tackle the outages e.g. the optimal routes to the customer or probable location of the fault can be viewed on the map from where the crew is thus saving on time. All these will reduce the time of resolving the incidences, help in keeping accurate information on incidences, delighting customers and improving the efficiency of work.

The opportunity that exists in Kenya concerning sharing of information by the public to institutions and government agencies has not be tapped. This is enhanced especially with the increase in the number of smartphones with Android OS. Thus the mobile application comes in handy to provide a solution to the way users report and share meter readings and incidents.

#### **5.2 Recommendations**

Geo-technology was used in place of the conventional hard-copy maps to display, share and report information. This was accomplished by using open source software's to display, query and analyze information relating to meter reading and power incidences. The web has the ability to disseminate spatial information to a wide audience. The information disseminated through this application can be used by KPLC personnel, the public and other decision-makers and interested stakeholders in the electricity distribution.

It is recommended that this application is replicated through all the other constituencies in Kenya to support power outage management in the company. Other utilities can use this application to better respond to customers when they face service interruptions and customer to report meter reading. The utilities can range from water and sewerage companies, telecommunication companies to oil and gas distribution companies among others.

The recommendations that can be drawn from the research are that the authorities and government should recognize and embrace the efforts of mobile applications in trying to improve service delivery in utility companies. It should also support such efforts through funding and integration of applications with the relevant departments. The application can be extended to be installed on other mobile phone operating systems such as the iOS based on the user base and mobile device penetration so as to get access to huge audiences.

#### **5.3 Suggestions for Future Research**

Based on user feedback the application can continuously be improved to cater for users changing needs. Further research should be done in future to enhance functionalities of the application and thus ensure user retention. There needs to be more research on how to verify the authenticity of the reported power incidences because the incidents are just reported by anyone with the application installed on their mobile phone. A verification and screening mechanisms can be introduced for these reported incidents to guarantee the accuracy and reliability of the data. There also need for further research on how the mobile application can be developed on iOS is a mobile operating system for Apple and the same linked to the web portal.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Communication Authority of Kenya (CAK), (2012). Quarterly sector statistics report first quarter of the financial year 2012/13.
- Communications Authority of Kenya (2017). Second quarter sector statistics report for the financial year 2017/2018 (p. 7). Nairobi.
- Connolly & Begg (2015). Pearson. Database Systems: A Practical Approach to Design, Implementation, and Management. Sixth edition.
- 4. Deloitte (2016). Kenya economic outlook 2016: The story behind the numbers.
- Dykes, j, MacEachren, A.M., Kraak M. J. (2005). Exploring Geovisualization, International cartographic Association (Elsevier, Amsterdam) pp 3-4
- Dzbor M., Domingue J. and Motta E., (2003). Knowledge Media Institute, The Open University, Milton Keynes, UK pp 1-3.
- Elwood, S. (2008). 'Volunteered geographic information: key questions, concepts and methods to guide emerging research and practice', GeoJournal, 72(3–4), pp.
- Elwood, S., Goodchild, M. F., & Sui, D. Z. (2012). Researching Volunteered Geographic Information: Spatial Data, Geographic Research, and New Social Practice. Annals of the Association of American Geographers, 102(3): 571–590.
- Fu P. and Sun J, (2011). Web GIS: Principles and Applications, ESRI Press, New York, USA.
- Goodchild, M. F. (2007b). 'Editorial: citizens as voluntary sensors: spatial data infrastructure in the world of Web 2.0', International Journal of Spatial Data Infrastructures Research, 2, pp. 24–32.
- 11. Goodchild, M. F. (2008). 'Commentary: whither VGI?', GeoJournal, 72(3-4), pp. 239-244.
- 12. Goodchild, M. F. (2007). Citizens as sensors: the world of volunteered geography. GeoJournal, 69: 211-221.
- Goodchild, M. F. Longley, P. A. Maguire, D. J. Rhind D. W. (2005). Geographical Information Systems and Science John Wiley & Sons Ltd, 2 ed. pp 291-292 39
- Goodchild, M. F., and Glennon, J. (2010). Crowdsourcing geographic information for disaster response: a research frontier. International Journal of Digital Earth, Vol.3, No.3, 231-241.

- Goodchild, M.F. (2007). "Citizens as voluntary sensors: spatial data infrastructure in the world of Web 2.0" International Journal of Spatial Data Infrastructures Research 2: 24– 32.
- Google (2010). Android Structure, at http://developer.android.com/index.html [Accessed 1, March 2018].
- Government of Kenya (2007). Vision 2030: A Globally Competitive and Prosperous Kenya.GoK
- 18. Government of Kenya (2013). Kenya Vision 2030 Medium Term Plan: 2013-2017. GoK
- 19. Howard. M., & Leblanc. D. (2003). Writing Secure Code. New York: Microsoft Press. -
- 20. Hu, Y.-H. & Ge, L., (2008). Chapter 11: GeoTagMapper: An Online Map-based Geographic Information Retrieval System for Geo-Tagged Web Content. In: M. P. Peterson, ed. International Perspectives on Maps and the Internet Lecture Notes in Geoinformation and Cartography. Berlin, Germany: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 153-164.
- Ian J. and Norman W. (2004). URI/Resource Relationships Architecture of the World Wide Web, Volume One. World Wide Web Consortium
- 22. IDC (2012). Android Marks Fourth Anniversary since Launch with 75.0% Market Share in Third Quarter, at http://www.idc.com/getdoc.jsp?containerId=prUS23771812#.UWFoSTd3N7M [Accessed 1, June 2018].
- 23. Institute of Economic Affairs (IEA), (2015). Situational Analysis of Energy Industry, Policy and Strategy for Kenya Institute of Economic Affairs (IEA), 2015
- 24. International Telecommunication Union (2017). Measuring the Information Society Report (p. 6). Geneva. Retrieved from https://www.itu.int/en/ITU-D/Statistics/Documents/publications/misr2017/MISR2017\_Volume1.pdf [Accessed 20/06/2018]
- 25. Jiang, B. Huang, B., and Vasek, V. (2003). Geovisualisation for Planning Support Systems. In Planning Support Systems in Practice, Geertman, S., and Stillwell, J. (Eds.) (Berlin: Springer).
- 26. Kenya Institute for Public Policy Research and Analysis (2017), Kenya Economic Report (KER) (pp. 15-17). Nairobi: Kenya Institute for Public Policy Research and Analysis (KIPPRA).

- 27. Kenya National Bureau of Statistics (KNBS), (2009). Kenya Population and Housing Census, Government Press, Nairobi, Kenya
- 28. Kenya National Bureau of Statistics (KNBS), (2008). Well-being in Kenya; A socio-Economic Profile, English Press Limited, Nairobi, Kenya
- 29. Kenya National Bureau of Statistics (2013). Economic Survey, 2013. KNBS
- 30. Kenya National Bureau of Statistics (2017). Economic Survey, 2017. KNBS
- KIPPRA. (2017). Kenya Economic Report 2017. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10842-006-7185-8
- KPLC, (2012). 5 Year Corporate Strategic Plan 2013/14 to 2017/18 (p. 10). Nairobi: Kenya Power and Lighting Company Ltd.
- 33. Kraak, M.J. (2004). The role of the map in a web GIS environment: Journal of geographical systems: geographical information, analysis, theory and decision, 6 (2004) 2 pp. 83-93.
- Vaquero L. M., L. Rodero-Merino, J. Caceres, and M. Lindner (2009). A break in the clouds: Towards a cloud definition, SIGCOMM Computer Communications Review, 39:50-55.
- 35. MacEachren, A.M. (2004). Geovisualization for knowledge construction and decision support. IEEE computer graphics and applications, 24(1), pp.13-17.
- 36. MacEachren, A.M. and Kraak, M.J. (1997). Exploratory cartographic visualization: advancing the agenda. Computers & Geosciences, 23(4), pp. 335-343.
- 37. Meyer N. V. (2004). The GIS and Land Records, The ArcGIS Parcel Data Model ESRI press, USA
- Ministry of Energy and Petroleum (MoEP) (2015). Draft National Energy and Petroleum Policy.
- 39. Miscione, G., Verplanke, J. and Martinez, J. (2011). 'Voluntary information and PGIS', in PGIS: Participatory Geographic Information Systems and Land Planning: Life Experiences for People Empowerment and Community Transformation, ed. by
- Mitchell. T. (2005). Web Mapping Illustrated: Using Open Source GIS Toolkits. O'Reilly Media.
- 41. Orenstein, D. (2010). Quick Study: Application Programming Interface (API) http://www.computerworld.com/s/article/43487/Application\_Programming\_Interface [Accessed 20/06/2018]

- 42. Owiro, D., Poquillon, G., Sivi Njonjo, K. and Oduor, C. (2015). Situational Analysis of Energy Industry, Policy and Strategy for Kenya. Nairobi: Institute of Economic Affairs (IEA).
- 43. Republic of Kenya. (2007). Kenya Vision 2030. Government of Kenya Issue, 29
- 44. Sakamoto A. & Fukui, H., (2004). Development and application of a livable environment evaluation support system using Web GIS. Journal of Geographical Systems, Springer (Berlin / Heidelberg) 6(2) pp 175-195
- 45. Stachowicz S. (2004). Geographical data sharing Advantages of web based technology to local government, 10th EC GI & GIS Workshop 23-25 June 2004, ESDI State of the Art,Warsaw, Poland, pp 1-2 41
- 46. Tsou, M.H. and Buttenfield, B.P. (2002). A Dynamic Architecture for Distributed Geographic Information Services. Transactions in GIS. 6(4) pp 355-381.
- UNHCR. (2012). Geo-Tagging and Sharing Infrastructure Pictures in the Field Guiding Notes (pp. 2-3). Geneva: United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees.
- 48. Xu, J. and Nyerges, T.L. (2016). 'A framework for user-generated geographic content acquisition in an age of crowdsourcing', Cartography and Geographic Information Science.
- 49. Zhou, Y. (2014). Volunteered Geographical Information: an Alternative Solution for Overcoming the Chasm between Storm water Management and Community Participation (Masters). University of Nebraska.

# **APPENDICES**

# Appendix A Developing an Electrical Network Geodatabase

Appendix A1 Sample Styling Sheet for Medium Voltage Lines (SLD File)

💈 C:\Users\PAUL SILALI\Desktop\MY_DATA\[ 2 ] EDITED SHAPEFILES FORM ARC_GIS\SLD FILES\MEDIUM_VOLTAGE_LINE_SECTION.sId - Sublime Text (U						
File Ed	lit Selectio	n Find View Goto Tools Project Preferences Help				
<b>4</b> ►	web-map,	js X MEDIUM_VOLTAGE_LINE_SECTION.sld X index.html X				
1 v xml version="1.0" encoding="UTF-8"? <sld:styledlayerdescriptor stroke"="" xmlns="http://www.opengis.ne&lt;/td&gt;&lt;/tr&gt;&lt;tr&gt;&lt;td colspan=7&gt;2 V &lt;sld:UserLaver&gt;&lt;/td&gt;&lt;/tr&gt;&lt;tr&gt;&lt;td&gt;&lt;/td&gt;&lt;td&gt;&lt;/td&gt;&lt;td&gt;&lt;sld:LayerFeatureConstraints&gt;&lt;/td&gt;&lt;/tr&gt;&lt;tr&gt;&lt;td&gt;4&lt;/td&gt;&lt;td colspan=5&gt;&lt;sld:FeatureTypeConstraint/&gt;&lt;/td&gt;&lt;/tr&gt;&lt;tr&gt;&lt;td&gt;&lt;/td&gt;&lt;td colspan=5&gt;&lt;/sld:LayerFeatureConstraints&gt;&lt;/td&gt;&lt;/tr&gt;&lt;tr&gt;&lt;td&gt;6 🔻&lt;/td&gt;&lt;td colspan=5&gt;&lt;pre&gt;&lt;sld:UserStyle&gt;&lt;/pre&gt;&lt;/td&gt;&lt;/tr&gt;&lt;tr&gt;&lt;td&gt;&lt;/td&gt;&lt;td colspan=6&gt;&lt;pre&gt;&lt;sld:Name&gt;LANGATA MEDIUM VOLTAGE LINES&lt;/sld:Name&gt;&lt;/pre&gt;&lt;/td&gt;&lt;/tr&gt;&lt;tr&gt;&lt;td&gt;8 🔻&lt;/td&gt;&lt;td&gt;&lt;/td&gt;&lt;td&gt;&lt;sld:FeatureTypeStyle&gt;&lt;/td&gt;&lt;/tr&gt;&lt;tr&gt;&lt;td&gt;&lt;/td&gt;&lt;td&gt;&lt;/td&gt;&lt;td&gt;&lt;sld:Name&gt;group0&lt;/sld:Name&gt;&lt;/td&gt;&lt;/tr&gt;&lt;tr&gt;&lt;td&gt;10&lt;/td&gt;&lt;td&gt;&lt;/td&gt;&lt;td&gt;&lt;pre&gt;&lt;sld:FeatureTypeName&gt;Feature&lt;/sld:FeatureTypeName&gt;&lt;/pre&gt;&lt;/td&gt;&lt;/tr&gt;&lt;tr&gt;&lt;td&gt;11&lt;/td&gt;&lt;td&gt;&lt;/td&gt;&lt;td&gt;&lt;pre&gt;&lt;sld:SemanticTypeIdentifier&gt;generic:geometry&lt;/sld:SemanticTypeIdentifier&gt;&lt;/pre&gt;&lt;/td&gt;&lt;/tr&gt;&lt;tr&gt;&lt;td&gt;12&lt;/td&gt;&lt;td&gt;&lt;/td&gt;&lt;td&gt;&lt;pre&gt;&lt;sld:SemanticTypeIdentifier&gt;simple&lt;/sld:SemanticTypeIdentifier&gt;&lt;/pre&gt;&lt;/td&gt;&lt;/tr&gt;&lt;tr&gt;&lt;td&gt;13 🔻&lt;/td&gt;&lt;td&gt;&lt;/td&gt;&lt;td&gt;&lt;sld:Rule&gt;&lt;/td&gt;&lt;/tr&gt;&lt;tr&gt;&lt;td&gt;14&lt;/td&gt;&lt;td&gt;&lt;/td&gt;&lt;td&gt;&lt;sld:Name&gt;default rule&lt;/sld:Name&gt;&lt;/td&gt;&lt;/tr&gt;&lt;tr&gt;&lt;td&gt;15 🔻&lt;/td&gt;&lt;td&gt;&lt;/td&gt;&lt;td&gt;&lt;sld:LineSymbolizer&gt;&lt;/td&gt;&lt;/tr&gt;&lt;tr&gt;&lt;td&gt;16 🔻&lt;/td&gt;&lt;td&gt;&lt;/td&gt;&lt;td&gt;&lt;sld:Stroke&gt;&lt;/td&gt;&lt;/tr&gt;&lt;tr&gt;&lt;td&gt;17&lt;/td&gt;&lt;td&gt;&lt;/td&gt;&lt;td&gt;&lt;pre&gt;&lt;sld:CssParameter name=">#FF0000</sld:styledlayerdescriptor>						
18		<sld:cssparameter name="stroke-opacity">0.9</sld:cssparameter>				
19		<pre><sld:cssparameter name="stroke-width">1.2</sld:cssparameter></pre>				
20						
21						
22						
23						
24	24					
25	25					
26	26					
27						
28						

# Appendix B Developing a Mobile Application

Appendix B1: Mobile Application Development on Android Studio



# Appendix C Developing a Web Application Locally

Appendix C1: Web Map Page HTML Code

```
<! DOCTYPE html>
<html lang="en">
<% include partials/head %>
    <body class="fixed-navbar sidebar-scroll">
        <style>
            .map {
                height: 400px;
                width: 100%;
        </style>
        <% include partials/headerbar %>
            <!-- Main Wrapper -->
            <div id="wrapper">
                <% include partials/flash %>
                     <div class="row">
                         <div class="col-lg-4"></div></div>
                         <div class="col-lg-8"></div>
                     </div>
                     <div class="normalheader ">
                         <div class="row">
                             <div class="col-lg-12">
                                 <div class="view-header">
                                     <div class="pull-right text-right"</pre>
style="line-height: 14px">
                                          <small>Gsomee
                                              <br><br>Map
                                              <br>
                                              <span class="c-white">v.0.1</span>
                                          </small>
                                     </div>
                                     <div class="header-icon">
                                          <i class="pe page-header-icon pe-7s-
map-2"></i>
                                     </div>
                                     <div class="header-title">
                                         <h3 class="m-b-xs">
                                              MAP
                                         </h3>
```

```
<small>
                                               Loaenfvkae nraejgn jegi sk abe
akej
                                          </small>
                                      </div>
                                  </div>
                                  <hr style="border-color:#f6a821
!important;margin-bottom: 0px !important">
                              </div>
                         </div>
                     </div>
                     <div class="content">
                         <div class="row">
                              <div class="hpanel hgreen">
                                  <div class="border-right border-left">
                                      <section>
                                           <div id="map" class="map"></div>
                                      </section>
                                  </div>
                                  <div class="panel-body">
                                  </div>
                              </div>
                         </div>
                     </div>
                     <% include partials/footer %>
            </div>
            <% include partials/scripts %>
                 <script src="https://openlayers.org/en/v4.6.5/build/ol.js"</pre>
type="text/javascript"></script></script></script></script>
                 <script>
                     var OpenLayer = ol;
                     // OpenStreet Base map
                     var OSM = new OpenLayer.layer.Tile({
```

source: new OpenLayer.source.OSM() }); // layers from GeoServer (format WMS) var lv lines = new OpenLayer.layer.Image({ //extent: [-13884991, 2870341, -7455066, 6338219], source: new OpenLayer.source.ImageWMS({ url: 'http://localhost:8080/GeoServer/gsomee/wms', params: { 'layers': gsomee:langata\_low\_voltage\_lines' }, ratio: 1, serverType: 'GeoServer' }) }); // layers from GeoServer (format WMS) var mv lines = new OpenLayer.layer.Image({ //extent: [-13884991, 2870341, -7455066, 6338219], source: new OpenLayer.source.ImageWMS({ url: 'http://localhost:8080/GeoServer/gsomee/wms', params: { 'layers': gsomee:langata\_medium\_voltage\_lines' }, ratio: 1, serverType: 'GeoServer' }) }); // layers from GeoServer (format WMS) var meterboxes = new OpenLayer.layer.Image({ source: new OpenLayer.source.ImageWMS({ url: 'http://localhost:8080/GeoServer/gsomee/wms', params: { 'layers': 'gsomee:langata\_meterboxes' }, ratio: 1, serverType: 'GeoServer' }) }); // layers from GeoServer (format WMS) var secondary\_substation = new OpenLayer.layer.Image({ //extent: [-13884991, 2870341, -7455066, 6338219], source: new OpenLayer.source.ImageWMS({ url: 'http://localhost:8080/GeoServer/gsomee/wms', params: { 'layers': gsomee:langata secondary substation' }, ratio: 1, serverType: 'GeoServer' }) }); // layers from GeoServer (format WMS) var primary substation = new OpenLayer.layer.Image({



# Appendix D Publishing, Sharing and Testing the Application

Appendix D1: Server connection and Configuration

Server Configuration for creating a new database

